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Pursuant to section 149(2) of the Danish Financial Statements Act, the Group 
Annual Report is an extract of Copenhagen Airport's complete annual report. 
The complete annual report – including the financial statements of the Parent 
Company, Copenhagen Airports A/S, the CSR report and the statutory corporate 
governance statement – is available on request from Copenhagen Airports A/S or 
can be downloaded at www.cph.dk. Following adoption at the Annual General 
Meeting, the complete annual report will also be available from the Danish Busi-
ness Authority (Erhvervsstyrelsen). 

The allocation of the profit for the year, including the proposed dividend, is 
 described on page 40.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held on 8 April 2014 at 3.00 pm in the 
 Vilhelm Lauritzen Terminal.

Forward-looking statements: Risks and uncertainties
This Annual Report includes forward-looking statements as described in the US 
Private Securities Litigation Act of 1995 and similar acts of other jurisdictions on 
forward-looking statements, including in particular statements concerning future 
revenues, operating profits, business expansion and investments. Such statements 
are subject to risks and uncertainties, as various factors, many of which are be-
yond CPH's control, may cause actual results and performance to differ materially 
from the forecasts made in this Annual Report. Such factors include general eco-
nomic and business conditions, changes in exchange rates, the demand for CPH's 
services, competitive factors within the aviation industry, operational problems in 
one or more of the Group's businesses, and uncertainties relating to acquisitions 
and divestments. See also "Risk factors" on pages 24-26.

Copenhagen Airports A/S
Lufthavnsboulevarden 6
DK-2770 Kastrup, Denmark
Denmark
Tel: 32 45 31 32 31
Fax: +45 3231 3132
E-mail: cphweb@cph.dk
Web: www.cph.dk
Company reg. (CVR) no: 14 70 72 04
Founded on: 19 September 1990
Municipality of registered office: Taarnby

Terms used
Copenhagen Airports, CPH, the Group, and the Company are used synonymously 
about Copenhagen Airports A/S consolidated with its subsidiaries and associates.

Copenhagen Airport
The airport at Copenhagen, Kastrup, owned by Copenhagen Airports A/S.

Roskilde Airport
The airport at Roskilde owned by Copenhagen Airports A/S.  
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Letter from the  
Board of Directors
Copenhagen Airport is a growth driver for both Denmark 
and the city of Copenhagen. Each route generates eco-
nomic growth and jobs both inside and outside the airport, 
with tourists and business travellers across Denmark. Some 
23,000 people currently work at Copenhagen Airport, and 
if the current growth trend continues, international projec-
tions show that an additional six to seven thousand jobs will 
be created at the airport in the coming decades. This growth 
also lays the foundation for roughly three thousand new 
jobs outside the airport.

CPH has successfully created an international hub that mil-
lions of northern Europeans use to travel through Copenha-
gen to other world destinations each year. This means that 
Denmark has a much larger airport with more passengers, 
more destinations and more long-haul routes than the size 
of the country would otherwise warrant. 

However, growth certainly does not come by itself, so Co-
penhagen Airport intends to continue to invest in expanding 
the airport in the years ahead, for the benefit of passengers, 
airlines and the country.

We must do what it takes to build the airport of the future: 
CPH is currently investing more than it earns in building the 
facilities needed for Copenhagen to be a northern European 
hub for air transport. For this reason, it is vital that CPH con-
tinues to be a profitable business generating profits that can 
be used for our continuing investment in the World Class 
Hub of the future, an international hub with up to 40 million 
passengers annually, according to CPH's recently announced 
vision for growth "Expanding CPH". 

As compared with other major European hub airports, CPH 
ranks among the best in terms of quality, and our charges 
are in the lower half of the rankings. In short, we provide 
high quality at low prices, which makes Copenhagen Airport 
one of the most attractive airports in Europe. 

Copenhagen Airport set a passenger record in 2013 of 24.1 
million passengers, which corresponds to a growth rate of 
3.1%. This was higher than at most other European hub air-
ports, which means that Copenhagen Airport has improved 
its international competitive position.

The battle among the regions and airports of Europe to re-
tain and develop new air routes continues to intensify. For 
this reason, route development is crucial to strengthening 
Copenhagen Airport's position as a northern European hub. 
CPH is working closely with the airlines, the authorities, the 
business community and the Global Connected route devel-
opment programme to create the best possible conditions 
for its airline partners.

New chairman
Copenhagen Airports A/S will have a new Chairman in the 
spring of 2014. According to the Corporate Governance 
recommendations members of a Board of Directors are not 
considered as independent after having served on the Board 
of Directors for more than 12 years and therefore, Henrik 
Gürtler decided to retire at the coming Annual General 
Meeting in April 2014.

The other members of the Board of Directors wish to thank 
Mr. Gürtler for the huge amount of work he has put into his 
years as chairman of CPH. He has played an important role 
strengthening Copenhagen Airport's position as one of the 
most important northern European hubs. His experience and 
skill as Chairman has helped ensure a stable and fruitful col-
laboration with the airport's shareholders since 2004.

The Board of Directors of Copenhagen Airports A/S
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2013 was another year of good performance at CPH, with 
Copenhagen Airport setting a passenger record and receiv-
ing several international awards in recognition of our work 
to improve the airport for passengers, airlines and growth in 
the region.

At the annual international "World Routes" conference in 
Las Vegas, airlines from all over the world rated Copenhagen 
Airport the world's best airport at route development for 
airports with 20 to 50 million passengers, ahead of other 
airports, including one of our strongest European competi-
tors, Munich, and one of the airports traditionally rated best, 
Seoul's Incheon Airport. The award was given especially in 
recognition of the close and trusting collaboration we have 
with our airline partners. 

Furthermore, Copenhagen Airport's security services were 
rated best in the world in April 2013 by SKYTRAX, whose 
users – 12.1 million passengers – rate service and quality at 
airports and airlines worldwide. In addition, Copenhagen 
Airport was rated the most efficient airport in Europe for the 
eighth time in ten years by Air Transport Research Society, an 
independent international society that analyses and assesses 
efficiency at airports worldwide; and if we look at punctual-
ity among the major airports of Europe, Copenhagen is one 
of the best, with 85% of traffic on time.

Copenhagen Airport was the proud winner of three of the 
prestigious Food & Beverage Awards "FAB Awards" at the 
2013 ceremony in Dubai, confirming that we have succeed-
ed in our strategy of raising the bar in our offering of cafés 
and restaurants. 

All these international awards simply confirm the fact that 
CPH has made excellent progress in implementing the 
"World Class Hub" strategy we launched two years ago. In 
the strategy, we focus on: 

•	 	Being	an	attentive	host	to	all	our	customer	groups	by	
providing excellent service and thus an extraordinary cus-
tomer experience

•	 	Improving	our	international	competitiveness by providing 
value for money while also working to reduce our cus-
tomers' cost of operating at Copenhagen Airport

•	 	Offering	our	customers	efficient operations with a focus 
on efficiency, safety and security, quality and good service

We are seeing many signs that our strategy targets are being 
achieved. In recent years, Copenhagen Airport has seen an 
increase in the number of international and intercontinental 
passengers it serves, which is in line with our strategic focus 
on strengthening the airport's position as a northern Euro-
pean hub. That is also the reason why, each year, we invest a 
significant amount in expanding the airport so it is ready to 
handle the growth we expect over the next few years.

In the previous year, we specifically aimed our growth and 
development plans at a projected 30 million passengers 
a year. In early 2014, we lifted the veil on our ambitious 
growth vision towards 40 million passengers – "Expanding 
CPH" – in which we, together with our business partners, 
our customers and our region, focus on the airport of the 
future and thus also the vital role that Copenhagen Airport 
plays in driving growth in Denmark as a whole. 

All of this investment and expansion is aimed at allowing 
us to handle almost twice as many passengers in future, 
generating economic growth in all of Denmark and further 
positioning Copenhagen even better as an international 
metropolis. We can achieve this if Denmark has similar con-
strains for thinking long term while collaborating closely on 
the project and seeking shared solutions.

Thomas Woldbye
CEO	of	Copenhagen	Airports	A/S

Preface
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World Class Hub

To ensure the World Class Hub strategy is implemented, 
we continually monitor the progress CPH makes in each of 
its strategic initiatives. For this reason, CPH have defined a 
number of goals and targets in order to ensure that imple-

mentation of the strategy follows the plan. The goals and 
progress made in selected areas can be seen in the table 
below.

Focus area Definition Results

Extraordinary 
customer 
 experience

CPH is the quality-conscious gracious and 
attentive host providing its customers with 
more than they expect, while also seeking to 
offer an extraordinary value added customer 
experience for passengers, airlines and others. 

In 2013, CPH invested more than DKK 150 million in improving the 
passenger experience at the airport, among other expanding Terminal 2 
to create more space for checking in and improving passenger flow.

CPH met its target of introducing at least one new unique brand at the 
shopping centre each year, and satisfaction rose among the shopping
centre concessionaires, which helps ensure passengers an extraordinary 
shopping experience.

To achieve a high level of passenger satisfaction in this respect, CPH 
has defined a target of 85% of passenger check-ins taking less than 
five minutes – a target that was met in 2013.

Competitiveness CPH will continue to provide the high level of 
service Copenhagen Airport is known  
for throughout the travel value chain, and 
continue to attract the right strategic 
international brands and trademarks to  
give our customers what they want. 

CPH will constantly work to be cost conscious 
and thus ensure its competitiveness with our 
airport peers. 

Our	infrastructure	must	be	optimal	for	both	
passengers and airlines, and CPH wants to 
provide the capacity they require. 

Growth at Copenhagen Airport was higher than at our peer European 
hubs in 2013, a goal CPH sets to help improve Copen hagen Airport's 
international competitive position.

To strengthen the position of the airport as a hub, CPH has also set the 
target of adding at least one new long-haul route to the route map 
each year. We met that target in 2013.

For the same reason, Copenhagen Airport has defined a goal of 
improving its feeder network, a goal which was also met in 2013, with 
a net increase in the number of new feeder services.

Efficient  
operations

Copenhagen Airport will operate efficiently and 
provide a higher level of service so that 
passengers, airlines and other customers 
choose Copenhagen Airport as their preferred 
gateway.

An essential feature of efficient and reliable 
operations is good planning and  predictability.

85% of traffic was on time in 2013, which helped reduce airline costs, 
when operating at Copenhagen Airports.

87.6% of all baggage was delivered within 35 minutes ("last bag") in 
2013, which met the in-house target and helped ensure a high level of 
passenger satisfaction.

86% of all passengers were security screened in less than five minutes, 
which was better than the target and also helped lift passenger 
satisfaction.

Investment/Strategic initiatives
CPH has been investing considerable amounts of money 
in the expansion of Copenhagen Airport in recent years in 
order to maintain the airport's international competitiveness 
and strengthen its position as a northern European hub. 

CPH plans its investment into three different time perspectives: 
short term, medium term and long term. Short term means 
the investment in expansion planned for the next two to three 
years. Medium term refers to the time up to reaching a level 
of 30 million passengers per year, and long term means invest-
ment in expansion after the 30 million point is reached.
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Short and medium term
In the short and medium term, Copenhagen Airport's expan-
sion plans include an upgrade and extension of the western 
end of Terminal 2, which should be seen as a direct continu-
ation of the extension and development of the eastern end, 
which	opened	in	2013.	Overall,	the	Terminal	2	project	cre-
ates more space for passengers and increases the number of 
check-in desks and kiosks.

After the completion of the modification and expansion of 
the facilities for handling outbound baggage, CPH will be fo-
cusing on inbound baggage for the next few years. Changes 
in processes, an expansion of the arrivals area and modifica-
tions aimed at providing more baggage-sorting capacity will 
be used to accelerate baggage delivery in the form of gene-
rally shorter waiting times, resulting in an improvement in 
the passenger experience. 

As a result of the continued intercontinental growth CPH 
will continue the extension of Pier C, used for long-distance 
routes and airlines which fly to and from non-Schengen 
countries. Pier C will be further extended including three 
new gates to large aircraft. The work is started in 2014 and 
expected to end in 2015. Moreover, more aircraft stands 
will be established in order to accommodate the continuing 
increase in traffic. 

The central security checkpoint between Terminal 2 and Ter-
minal 3 will be expanded in the next few years to accommo-
date the steadily growing number of passengers, and new 
technology will be implemented to ensure that the airport 
continues to meet the ever-stricter international security re-
quirements while ensuring that waiting times remain short.

In the landside area, a taxi management system will be intro-
duced to facilitate a better management of the flow of taxis, 
resulting in a better passenger experience.

Long term
In early 2014, we announced our vision of what the Copen-
hagen Airport of the future will look like, entitled "Expand-
ing CPH". The expansion projects will allow CPH to handle 
almost twice as many passengers in future, which will gener-
ate economic growth in Denmark and position Copenhagen 
even better as an international metropolis. 

This will happen through an intelligent expansion of the ter-
minals, technical facilities and aircraft stands so that Copen-

hagen Airport can continue to be a clearly laid-out airport. 
CPH wants to ensure that it is easy and a pleasant experi-
ence to find one's way through the airport and that it is easy 
to travel to and from the airport.

It will require a thorough redesign and expansion of the 
airport to more than double the current floor space of the 
terminals through a phased expansion of the terminals 
as they are today. The phased expansion will ensure that 
Copenhagen Airport remains a compact airport with short 
walking distances, and it will also ensure that the expansion 
follow the growth as traffic rise and the technological de-
velopments, so that CPH can offer the right capacity at the 
right time.

Outlook for 2014
With the anticipated traffic programme for 2014, we expect 
to see an increase in the total number of passengers. A posi-
tive full-year effect in 2014 is expected from the many new 
routes opened in 2013. Traffic in 2014 could, however, be 
adversely affected by continuing financial uncertainty in the 
Eurozone and by any closure of routes due to airline cut-
backs.

The increase in passenger numbers is expected to have a fa-
vourable	impact	on	revenue.	Operating	costs	are	expected	to	
be higher than in 2013, primarily due to the expected rise in 
passenger numbers and cost inflation, but this will partly be 
offset by a continuing focus on operating cost efficiencies.

Under the charges agreement, CPH must invest an average 
of DKK 500 million annually but, as in previous years, CPH 
expects to invest at a level significantly higher in 2014 than 
what CPH is committed to under the charges agreement.

However, the investment level depends on the continuing in-
crease in total passenger numbers. CPH will also be investing 
in non-aeronautical projects for the benefit of airlines and 
passengers. 

Depreciation charges and financial costs are expected to be 
higher in 2014 than in 2013 as a result of the continuing 
high	investment	level.	Overall,	profit	before	tax	for	2014	is	
expected to be in the range of DKK 1,120.0 million to DKK 
1,180.0	million,	when	excluding	one-off	items.	Operating	
profit before depreciation is projected to be higher in 2014 
than in 2013, when excluding one-off items.
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Highlights 2013 

Aeronautical business
•	 	Passenger	numbers	at	Copenhagen	Airport	increased	to	

24.1 million in 2013, representing a year-on-year growth 
rate of 3.1% and a passenger record for the third con-
secutive year

•	 	International	traffic	and	intercontinental	rose	by	3.6%,	
making it a growth driver and underlining the success of 
CPH's World Class Hub strategy. The increase was mainly 
driven by new routes from SAS, Norweigian and EasyJet

•	  In the course of the year, services were launched to 22 des-
tinations not previously served out of Copenhagen Airport, 
and added frequencies and larger aircraft increased capacity.

•	 	Copenhagen	Airport	saw	its	busiest	summer	in	the	air-
port's history

•	 	Copenhagen	Airport	received	a	number	of	awards	in	
2013: for the "world's best security processing”, for be-
ing "the most efficient airport in Europe" and for being 
"the world's best airport at route development" in the 
20-to-50-million-passenger category

•	 	In	2013,	CPH	invested	DKK	214.0	million	in	the	conver-
sion of Terminal 2 and the baggage system, additional 
check-in kiosks (CUSS), implementation of a self-service 
baggage drop solution for SAS and Norwegian (the two 
biggest airlines at Copenhagen Airport) and self-service 
so-called "e-gates" before security screening

Non aeronautical business
•	  Revenue from the shopping centre was down 1.0%, mainly 

as a result of a drop in duty- and tax-free sales due to refur-
bishment of the shops and lower concession revenue. Exclud-
ing duty- and tax-free sales, revenue grew by 13.4%, mainly  
driven by strong sales growth in the specialty shops, restau-
rants and bars following an upgrade of the shop offering

•	 	In	October,	Joe	&	The	Juice	and	Le	Sommelier	Bar	&	Bistro	
was awarded for the "best airport coffee shop" and the 
"best airport chef-led dining" at the "FAB Awards" in 
Dubai. Copenhagen Airport also won the award for the 
world's strongest airport event for CPH Nordic Dining 
pop-up restaurant

•	 	Parking	revenue	grew	by	2.8%,	primarily	driven	by	the	
online segment, where CPH achieved an increase in the 

average ticket price and the number of transactions 
through campaigns and optimation

•	  Revenue from hotel operation was up by DKK 14.1 mil-
lion, mainly due to completion of last year's refurbishment 
project and growth in meeting and conference activities

Refinancing
•	 	CPH	issued	bonds	in	the	US	in	Q3.	The	amount	issued	

was fixed at USD 160 million with a term of ten years. 
CPH also repaid a USD 100 million loan

Financial highlights
•	 	Excluding	one-off	items	operating	and	financial	perfor-

mance in 2013 was in line with the guidance stated on 
page	4	of	the	Q3	2013	interim	report	dated	5	November	
2013

•	 	CPH	made	a	number	of	large	investments	in	intangible	
assets and property, plant and equipment. Investments in 
2013 totalled DKK 911.4 million, which was substantially 
above the amount CPH is committed to investing per year 
under the current charges agreement. The largest invest-
ments included major changes to Terminal 2 and an opti-
misation and expansion of the baggage system, renewal 
of aircraft stands, electricity and ventilation projects, and 
maintenance of various facility and IT system projects

•	 	Revenue	rose	3.7%	to	DKK	3,644.5	million	(2012:	DKK	
3,515.8 million), which was mainly due to an 3.1% increase 
in passenger numbers, more international passengers, high-
er parking revenue and growth in the hotel operation

•	 	The	reported	profit	before	tax	declined	to	DKK	1.171,8	
million (2012: DKK 1,915.3 million), mainly due to the 
divestment of CPH's 49% stake in NIAL Group Ltd. (NIAL) 
in 2012. This was partly offset by more international 
 passengers, higher parking revenue and growth in the 
hotel operation. In addition, CPH continued to focus on 
operating cost efficiencies and optimation of financial 
costs

•	 	Excluding	one-off	items,	profit	after	tax	rose	14.1%	to	
DKK 985.4 million (2012: DKK 863.3 million). Profit after 
tax was DKK 976.1 million (2012: DKK 1,614.8 million)

•	 	It	is	recommended	that	a	final	dividend	of	DKK	521.2	mil-
lion, or DKK 66.41 per share, is paid out
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DKK million  2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Income statement
Revenue   3,645   3,516   3,344   3,239   2,923 
EBITDA    1,996   2,668   1,775   1,964   1,518 
EBIT   1,373   2,109   1,263   1,472   1,047 
Profit from investments    -   -   -   27   14 
Net financing costs   201   194   206   271   242 
Profit before tax   1,172   1,915   1,057   1,228   820 
Net profit   976   1,615   756   909   614 
      
Statement of comprehensive income     
Other	comprehensive	income	 	 	(3)	 	(101)	 	(87)	 	86		 (99)
Comprehensive income   973   1,514   669   995   515 
      
Balance sheet       
Property, plant and equipment   8,669   8,420   7,883   7,699   7,471 
Financial investments   1   1   1   1   146 
Total assets   9,559   10,012   8,946   9,283   8,630 
Equity   2,901   3,602   2,916   3,480   3,191 
Interest-bearing debt   4,204   3,863   3,909   3,830   3,490 
Capital investments   739   936   591   621   514 
Investment in intangible assets   172   133   182   154   80 
      
Cash flow statements      
Cash flow from operating activities   1,384   1,672   1,456   1,116   984 
Cash flow from investing activities   (910)  (349)  (769)  (257) (552)
Cash flow from financing activities   (1,270)  (837)  (1,243)  (407) (25)
Cash at end of period   37   833   347   903   450 
      
Key ratios      
EBITDA margin  54.8% 75.9% 53.1% 60.6% 52.0%
EBIT margin  37.7% 60.0% 37.8% 45.4% 35.8%
Asset turnover rate  0.39 0.40 0.39 0.39 0.37
Return on assets  14.7% 23.7% 14.9% 17.9% 13.2%
Return on equity  30.0% 49.5% 23.6% 27.2% 19.2%
Equity ratio  30.3% 36.0% 32.6% 37.5% 37.0%
Earnings per DKK 100 share  124.4 205.8 96.3 115.8 78.3
Cash earnings per DKK 100 share  203.7 276.9 161.5 178.5 138.3
Net asset value per DKK 100 share  369.6 459.0 371.5 443.5 406.5
Dividend per DKK 100 share  124.4 205.8 96.3 160.6 78.3
NOPAT	margin	 	 29.1%	 49.6%	 28.7%	 36.1%	 29.3%
Turnover rate of capital employed  0.42 0.41 0.40 0.39 0.38
ROCE	 	 12.1%	 20.4%	 11.4%	 14.1%	 11.1%

The definitions of ratios are in line with the recommendations from 2010 made by the Association of Danish Financial 
 Analysts, except for the ratios not defined by the Association. Definitions of ratios are published at www.cph.dk
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Financial review 

Income statement

Revenue
Consolidated revenue rose DKK 128.7 million to DKK 
3,644.5 million, mainly driven by the increase in the aero-
nautical revenue as a result of the 3.1% increase in passen-
ger numbers.

Aeronautical revenue was up by 7.2% to DKK 2,070.9 mil-
lion, which was mainly due to the increase in passenger 
numbers, a change in the passenger mix because of a higher 
share of locally departing international passengers, and the 
price index adjustments of passenger-related charges on 1 
April 2013.

Non-aeronautical revenue rose 0.5% to DKK 1,570.7 mil-
lion, partly driven by an 7.7% increase in revenue from the 
hotel operation and an 2.8 % increase in parking revenue. 
The shopping centre saw a minor downturn due to the re-
furbishment of the duty- and tax-free shops in the first half 
of 2013.

Other income
Other	income	was	down	by	DKK	759.9	million	as	a	result	
of the 2012 divestment of CPH's 49% interest in the share 
capital of NIAL Group Ltd. (NIAL), England, which resulted in 
a profit of DKK 759.1 million.

Operating costs
Operating	costs	including	depreciation	increased	by	4.8%	to	
DKK 2,260.4 million, when excluding one-off items of DKK 
12.4 million, which were primarily related to restructuring 
costs. The increase was mainly due to a rise in staff costs 
of DKK 39.1 million primarily caused by wage indexation 
and an increase in the number of full-time employees by 
49 as a consequence of the increased passenger numbers 
and regulatory requirements to security. External costs were 
down by DKK 0.4 million, which was due to the continuing 
focus on cost effiencies partly offset by higher cost related to 
snow clearing and increased hotel activity. Depreciation rose 
by DKK 64.0 million as a consequence of the higher level of 
investments.

EBIT
EBIT rose by 1.9%, when excluding one-off items. Reported 
EBIT was down by 34.9% to DKK 1,373.2 million. The de-
cline was mainly attributable to the divestment of CPH's 
interest in NIAL and higher costs as a result of an increase 
in the number of employees. This was partly offset by an 
increase in aeronautical revenue as a result of growing pas-
senger numbers and higher non-aeronautical revenue. 

Net financing costs
Net financing costs increased by DKK 7.3 million, which was 
primarily attributable to a change in interest rates in 2012. 

Income statement 2013

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Revenue  3,644.5   3,515.8   128.7  3.7%

Other	income	 	1.5		 	761.4		 	(759.9)	 (99.8%)

Operating	costs	 	2,272.8		 	2,167.8		 	105.0		 4.8%

Operating	profit	 	1,373.2		 	2,109.4		 	(736.2)	 (34.9%)

Net financing costs  201.4   194.1   7.3  3.8%

Profit before tax  1,171.8   1,915.3   (743.5) (38.8%)

Tax on profit for the year  195.7   300.5   (104.8) (34.9%)

Net profit for the year  976.1   1,614.8   (638.7) (39.6%)

Income statement 2013 excluding one-off items

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Revenue  3,644.5   3,515.8   128.7  3.7%

Other	income	 	1.5		 	2.3		 	(0.8)	 (34.8%)

Operating	costs	 	2,260.4		 	2,157.7		 	102.7		 4.8%

Operating	profit	 	1,385.6		 	1,360.4		 	25.2		 1.9%

Net financing costs  201.4   194.1   7.3  3.8%

Profit before tax  1,184.2   1,166.3   17.9  1.5%

Tax on profit for the year  198.8   303.0   (104.2) (34.4%)

Net profit for the year  985.4   863.3   122.1  14.1%
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This was partly offset by an increase in capitalised interest on 
non-current assets.

Tax on profit for the year
Tax on consolidated profit was DKK 195.7 million, and the 
effective tax rate was calculated at 16.7%.

In June 2013, the Danish parliament adopted legislation to 
lower the Danish corporate tax rate from 25% to 22% in 
2014-2016. The immediate effect of this was that CPH's 
deferred tax liability of DKK 959.0 million (as at 31 Decem-
ber 2012) was reduced by DKK 115.1 million in 2013. The 
tax reduction does not otherwise affect CPH's provision 
for income tax on profit for 2013, as the lowering of the 
corporate tax rate for tax on profit for the year will be imple-
mented gradually in 2014-2016.

Net profit for the year
CPH's profit after tax was DKK 976.1 million, a year-on-year 
decrease of DKK 638.7 million or 39.6%. 

Balance sheet

Total assets stood at DKK 9,559.2 million at 31 December 
2013 (2012: DKK 10,012.2 million): the DKK 453.0 million 
decline was primarily due to cash and cash equivalents.

Non-current assets
The Group's non-current assets totalled DKK 9,153.8 million 
(2012: DKK 8,829.0 million), equivalent to 95.8% of total 
assets (2012: 88.2%). The increase in non-current assets was 
partly the result of investment in the conversion of Terminal 
2, optimisation and expansion of the baggage system, re-
newal of aircraft stands, electricity and ventilation projects, 
and maintenance of various facilities and IT systems.

Current assets
Current assets totalled DKK 405.4 million (2012: DKK 
1,183.2 million), a decline mainly as a result of an extraor-
dinary high cash level in 2012 due to the receipt of the pro-
ceeds from the divestment of NIAL in 2012, which later was 
paid out in dividend.

Equity
Equity totalled DKK 2,900.6, million as at 31 December 
2013 (2012: DKK 3,602.2 million), equivalent to 30.3% of 
the total balance sheet (2012: 36.0%). Equity increased by 
the net profit for the year of DKK 976.1 million (2012: DKK 
1,614.8 million); this was partially offset by dividends paid 
to shareholders totalling DKK 1,674.6 million (2012: DKK 
827.4 million). In addition, a negative effect of market value 
adjustments of hedging transactions plus tax of DKK 3.1 
million was recorded (2012: negative effect of DKK 58.9 mil-
lion). Market value adjustments of equity relate to currency 

Cash flow statement    

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Cash flow from:    

Operating	activities	 	1,383.8		 	1,672.4		 	(288.6)	 (17.3%)

Investing activities  (909.7)  (348.9)  (560.8) 160.7%

Financing activities  (1,269.9)  (837.2)  (432.7) 51.7%

Net cash flow for the year  (795.8)  486.3   (1,282.1) -  

Cash at beginning  
of year  832.8   346.5   486.3  140.3%

Cash at the end  
of the year  37.0   832.8   (795.8) (95.6%)

Balance sheet    

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Non-current assets  9,153.8   8,829.0   324.8  3.7%

Current assets  405.4   1,183.2   (777.8) (65.7%)

Total assets  9,559.2   10,012.2   (453.0) (4.5%)

    

Equity  2,900.6   3,602.2   (701.6) (19.5%)

Non-current liabilities  5,683.6   4,705.1   978.5  20.8%

Current liabilities  975.0   1,704.9   (729.9) (42.8%)

Total liabilities  6,658.6   6,410.0   248.6  3.9%

Total equity  
and liabilities  9,559.2   10,012.2   (453.0) (4.5%)
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swaps to hedge the USD and GBP exposure and interest 
rate swaps. In 2012, exchange rate adjustments totalling 
DKK 25.4 million relating to the divestment of NIAL and 
DKK 16.8 million in market value adjustments of hedging 
instruments in connection with the divestment of NIAL were 
reversed. 

Liabilities
Liabilities totalled DKK 6,658.6 million as at 31 December 
2013 (2012: DKK 6,410.0 million). Non-current liabilities 
increased by DKK 978.5 million from 31 December 2012, 
while current liabilities excluding the current portion of 
financial institutions and other loans stood at DKK 944.2 
million (2012: DKK 1,128.8 million). The DKK 184.6 million 
decline from 31 December 2012 was mainly attributable to a 
fall in trade payables.

Cash flow statement

Cash flow from operating activities
The decrease in the cash flow from operating activities of 
DKK 288.6 million was mainly the result lower trade pay-
ables, higher financial expenses and increased payments of 
corporation tax. 

Cash flow from investing activities
Investment in intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment totalled DKK 911.4 million in 2013. The increase 
in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment main-
ly concerned investment in the conversion of Terminal 2, 
optimisation and expansion of the baggage system, renewal 
of aircraft stands, electricity and ventilation projects, and 
maintenance of various facilities and IT systems.

Cash flow from financing activities
The cash flow from financing activities comprises the pro-
ceeds from a USPP loan of USD 160 million. It replaced an 
old USPP loan of USD 100 million which matured on 27 Au-
gust 2013. In addition, a drawdown was made on long-term 
facilities, mortgage payments and dividend payments were 
made.

Cash and cash equivalents
CPH had DKK 37.0 million in cash and cash equivalents and 
DKK 1,850.0 million in committed undrawn credit facilities 
at 31 December 2013.

Financing

CPH's interest-bearing debt amounted to DKK 4,203.9 
million as at 31 December 2013 (2012: DKK 3,863.0 mil-
lion), and net interest-bearing debt totalled DKK 4,166.9 
million (2012: DKK 3,030.2 million). The difference, DKK 
37.0 million (2012: DKK 832.8 million), was cash and cash 
equivalents.	Of	the	interest-bearing	debt,	99.3%	is	long-
term (2012: 85.1%), i.e. with due dates more than a year 
from 31 December 2013, and it primarily consists of facilities 
in USD and GBP. CPH issued bonds in the US for the third 
time	in	Q3	of	2013.	The	amount	issued	was	fixed	at	USD	
160 million with a term of ten years. CPH also repaid a USD 
100 million loan. The new loan is USD 60 million higher than 
the previous loan, as CPH took advantage of the favourable 
market conditions for the transaction. 

Operating	review

For additional comments, please see pages 16-23 for the 
sections that review the Group's operations and results for 
the individual segments.

Uncertainties relating to  
recognition and measurement

There are no extraordinary circumstances that have affected 
the recognition and measurement in 2013. See note 1, 
"Summary of significant accounting policies" and notes to 
the financial statements for a description of the estimates 
and uncertainties cf. page 35.
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Revenue
Total aeronautical revenue rose by 7.2%, due to an increase 
mainly driven by passenger growth, a change in passenger 
mix, because of a higher proportion of locally departing 
international passengers, and price-index adjustments of 
passenger-related charges on 1 April 2013.

Take-off revenue was up by 5.1% year-on-year as a result of 
the number of operations increased by 0.8%, while take-off 
weight of the aircraft compared to last year increased by 
3.5%.

Passenger revenue rose by 7.9%, mainly driven by an in-
crease in the number of locally departing international pas-
sengers, including from CPH Go, and the price-index adjust-
ment of charges on 1 April 2013.

Revenue from security and handling increased by a com-
bined DKK 48.6 million to DKK 647.9 million, or 8.1%, a rise 
mainly due to the increase in the number of locally departing 
international passengers and the price-index adjustment of 
charges on 1 April 2013.

EBIT
The increase in EBIT was mainly due to revenue growth, 
partly offset by higher snow-clearing costs, higher staff costs 
and depreciation charges.

Passengers
Passenger numbers rose by 3.1% to total 24.1 million, a 
record for Copenhagen Airport.The number of international 
traffic and intercontinental passengers rose by 3.6% includ-
ing a 0.3% increase in transfer passengers, underlining the 
success of CPH's World Class Hub strategy. 

The number of passengers transferring to intercontinental 
flights was up 12.2%, and short-haul-to-short-haul trans-
fers fell 2.4%. The percentage of international passengers 
increased from 91.7% to 92.1% of traffic, and interconti-
nental traffic (long haul) increased by 3.8% and continues to 
represent 10.2%. The opening of the three new long-haul 
routes to San Francisco, Fort Lauderdale and Casablanca 
brought the total number of long-haul routes out of Co-
penhagen Airport to 26 at the end of 2013. Norwegian 
announced its plans to open two new long-haul routes in 
2014: to Los Angeles and New York JFK. All of these routes 
strengthen Copenhagen Airport's position as a key northern 
European hub.

A number of new feeder services were opened in 2013, 
including from Norrköping, Sweden, Bremen, Humberside, 
Newcastle and Molde. All the new feeder services helped en-
sure the viability of the long-haul routes. The European route 
network saw further expansion, with new services to several 
destinations – including Liverpool, Eindhoven and Florence, 
while services to a number of destinations, including Venice, 
Rome, Edinburgh, Luxembourg, Madrid and Alicante, Riga, 
Berlin and Manchester – were strengthened, either by new 
airlines, more frequencies or larger aircrafts.

Also in 2013, new routes were opened to 22 destinations 
previously unserved from Copenhagen Airport; new airlines 
began operating on 11 existing routes; and additional capac-
ity was deployed on 16 routes, either through more frequen-
cies or larger aircraft. In 2013, 8 routes were closed down, 
bringing the net addition of routes during the year to 14.

The number of locally departing domestic passengers was 
down by 0.4% as a result of a general decline in the number 
of seats available on Danish domestic services following the 
bankruptcy of Cimber Sterling in May 2012. 

The total number of low-cost passengers at Copenhagen 
Airport was 24.1% higher in 2013 than in 2012. Low-cost 
carriers had a market share of 24.5% at the end of 2013, 
representing a growth of 4.1 year-on-year increase: one of 

Aeronautical business

Financial performance 2013

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Revenue  2,070.9   1,931.7   139.2  7.2%

Other	income	 	1.5		 	2.3		 	(0.8)	 (34.8%)

Profit before interest  355,8   297.5   58.3  19.6%

Segment assets  6,721.1   6,360.6   360.5  5.7%

Revenue

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Take-off revenue  397.5   378.2   19.3  5.1%

Passenger revenue  969.6   898.9   70.7  7.9%

Security revenue  480.2   444.0   36.2  8.2%

Handling  167.7   155.3   12.4  8.0%

Aircraft parking,  
CUTE, etc.  55.9   55.3   0.6  1.2%

Total  2,070.9   1,931.7   139.2  7.2%
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the highest growth rates in Europe according to global travel 
distributor Amadeus. The higher number of low-cost pas-
sengers stemmed mainly from passenger number growth 
of 18.7% for Norwegian, 24.3% for easyJet and 89.7% for 
Vueling, the largest low-cost carriers operating at Copenha-
gen Airport.

SAS
SAS is a key partner for Copenhagen Airport, and SAS and 
CPH entered into a strategic partnership in 2010 designed 
to help ensure the continued development of Copenhagen 
Airport as the most important northern European hub.

1	October	2013,	SAS	sold	its	Norwegian	subsidiary	Widerøe,	
and the SAS Group now consists of SAS and Blue1. The SAS 
Group had a market share of 44.1% of traffic at Copenha-
gen Airport in 2013, down 1.2% compared to 2012. This 
decline	was	attributable	to	the	divestment	of	Widerøe.

SAS is in the process of renewing its fleet. As part of this 
process, SAS signed an agreement with Airbus in 2013 
for the delivery of a number of new long-haul aircraft to 
be phased into the SAS fleet beginning in 2015; aircraft 
currently in the long-haul fleet will either be upgraded or 
phased out. In addition, SAS is currently phasing in a num-
ber of new aircraft to the European routes and the fleet re-
newal will result in lower operating costs; thereby enhancing 
the airline's competitiveness.

In the course of 2013, SAS opened six new year-round 
routes out of Copenhagen – to San Francisco, Bremen, 
Humberside, Newcastle, Prague and Budapest – and six 
seasonal routes to southern European destinations. SAS de-
ployed additional capacity on both its Madrid and New York 
routes. CPH will continue to work with SAS to open new 
long haul routes out of Copenhagen Airport in the future.

Norwegian
Three years ago, CPH entered into a strategic partnership 
with Norwegian, the third-largest low-cost carrier in Europe 
and the second-largest airline at Copenhagen Airport, with 
a market share of 16.0% of traffic at the airport. In 2013, 
Norwegian's market share at Copenhagen Airport increased 
by 18.7%. 

This strategic partnership focuses on growth and efficiency 
improvements in Norwegian's operations at Copenhagen 
Airport, including work to establish additional so-called 

"efficiency stands" that provide faster boarding and de-
boarding of passengers. This enables Norwegian to optimize 
utilization of their aircraft and the Airport will be able to 
increase the number of daily operations per stand. The ef-
ficiency stands has also been implemented by SAS and Air 
Berlin. In 2013, Copenhagen Airport also set up a new crew 
base for Norwegian. The airside location facilitates effi-
ciency at Norwegian, thereby creating a platform for further 
growth at Copenhagen. Both examples help minimise Nor-
wegian's operating costs at Copenhagen Airport in line with 
CPH's strategic focus.

Norwegian now has a base at Copenhagen Airport and Co-
penhagen Airports aims to be Norwegian’s second hub out-
side Norway. The airline launched seven new routes in 2013 
– Fort Lauderdale, Liverpool, Corfu, Lisbon, Madrid, Sarajevo 
and Montpellier – and upgraded three existing routes with 
additional frequencies. Moreover, Norwegian has announced 
its intention to launch an additional two long-haul routes 
out of Copenhagen: to New York JFK on 28 February 2014, 
with up to four weekly frequencies, and the day after to Los 
Angeles, with three weekly frequencies.

easyJet 
easyJet is the second-largest low-cost carrier in Europe and 
the third-largest airline at Copenhagen Airport, where its 
market share rose 24.3% in 2013, thanks to new routes 
to Rome and Edinburgh and increased capacity to London 
Gatwick and Manchester. easyJet carried some 1.4 million 
passengers into and out of Copenhagen in 2013.

In late 2013, easyJet announced its intention to open a 
new Copenhagen-Hamburg service in the spring of 2014 
and upgrade its service to Geneva by two additional weekly 
frequencies, which more than offsets the loss of capacity fol-
lowing the announced closure of its service to Lisbon. 

Increasing the inbound traffic is a key strategic focus area for 
CPH and easyJet and other low cost carriers are important to 
fulfill this objective.

Cargo
Copenhagen Airport has the largest intercontinental cargo 
route network in Scandinavia which is important to the Dan-
ish economy because of the easy and direct access to the 
most important import and export markets. Several cargo-
only airlines and the belly hold cargo carried by scheduled 
airlines help ensure the continuing existence of connections 
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to the most important trading centres in Asia and North 
America. 

In 2013 the volume of cargo carried was up by 1.9% from 
the year before, while the number of cargo operations in-
creased by 10.4%.

In the course of 2013, international cargo company DHL 
decided to increase its presence at Copenhagen Airport, ini-
tially for a two-year period. The company has added an ad-
ditional 20 daily operations and hired 85 new staff to handle 
the larger volume of cargo.

In 2013, Emirates SkyCargo introduced an all-cargo Dubai-
Copenhagen-Chicago-Copenhagen-Dubai service with two 
weekly frequencies using a B777-200F aircraft. In doing so, 
Emirates SkyCargo benefits from Copenhagen Airport's low 
charges and optimal geographic location on the route be-
tween the Middle East and North America. 

Roskilde Airport
Roskilde Airport is dedicated to handling a large part of the 
region's business and general aviation operations, i.e. busi-
ness travel in corporate jets and private flights generally em-
ploying both fixed-wing aircraft and helicopters. 

Roskilde Airport was ranked seventh best by the European 
Business Aviation News in 2013 in terms of handling the 
business aviation segment, and, partly as a result of this 
ranking, Roskilde Airport today handles more than 40% of 
all business and general aviation operations in the region 
(Zealand and the Capital Region).

Passenger numbers at Roskilde Airport remained at last 
year's level with an increase of 1.9% due to the large num-
bers of troops transported to and from Afghanistan by Small 
Planet on behalf of DSV and the Danish Armed Forces. The 
agreement on the transport of troops for the Armed Forces 
expired at the end of December 2013, which is expected to 
lead to a drop in passenger numbers in 2014. 

Very high fuel prices continued to have an impact on private 
flights in Denmark, depressing the number of operations in 
this segment. However, Roskilde Airport has been success-
ful in maintaining competitive fuel prices, today offering the 
lowest fuel prices in Denmark for the general aviation seg-
ment.

The total number of operations at Roskilde Airport was on 
a level with 2012 owing to the success of Roskilde Airport 
in maintaining its position as the preferred airport for pilot 
training. Training flights showed growth in 2013.

In Roskilde there is a growing tendency for people to choose 
helicopter flights over flights with traditional fixed-wing 
aircraft. However, fixed-wing aircraft continue to account 
for most of the operations at Roskilde. In 2013, the airport 
applied for and received permission to increase its helicopter 
quota to 12,000 operations per year. The quota for fixed-
wing aircraft has been reduced correspondingly.

The Municipality of Roskilde is currently reassessing the envi-
ronmental approval it issued to Roskilde Airport. In the pro-
cess, Roskilde Airport is working hard to maintain the neces-
sary conditions for the companies that have chosen to locate 
themselves at the airport, while also taking the environment 
and the airport's neighbours into consideration.

In early March 2013, a tragic accident occurred at Roskilde 
Airport when an aircraft crashed due to a pilot error. Both pi-
lots on the flight died in the accident. It was a tragic incident 
that showed that accidents can happen at any time and how 
important it is that CPH always have effective procedures 
and have emergency management systems (EMS) in place.

Investment
Up to the summer peak season in 2013, Copenhagen Air-
port completed a large project which involved an increase of 
check-in capacity and improvement of the flow at the east-
ern end of Terminal 2 by converting the former arcade be-
tween Terminals 2 and 3 into a dedicated check-in area. The 
conversion and expansion of Terminal 2 is part of the World 
Class Hub strategy, which includes measures to increase 
the airport's capacity to 30 million passengers per year. The 
western end of the terminal will undergo a similar conver-
sion within the next few years.

Copenhagen Airport also completed an extensive modifica-
tion and expansion of its baggage system in 2013, with a 
capacity expansion that will allow Copenhagen Airport to 
handle up to 30 million passengers per year. The system was 
upgraded to include an additional 2.8 kilometres of baggage 
belts and some 500 new motors, and capacity for scanning 
outbound baggage was increased substantially. Transfer 
capacity was also increased so that, after a few regrettable 
running-in problems in the summer of 2013, Copenhagen 
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Airport now provides efficient sorting and handling of the 
increased volumes of transfer baggage. 

In the spring of 2013, CPH began an extensive analysis of 
inbound baggage together with the airport's three handling 
companies – Novia, CFS and SGH – in which the airport's 
infrastructure, handling company equipment and processes, 
and passenger behaviour were analysed. The results identi-
fied a number of improvement opportunities and initiatives 
that improved the product and thereby also the passenger 
experience.

Today, the vast majority of passengers wait only a short time 
for their baggage, but the waiting time fluctuates widely in 
practice. In the second half of 2013, CPH focused on mini-
mising these fluctuations, which has cut the longest waiting 
times. This improvement is already being seen in Copenha-
gen Airport's on-going surveys of passenger satisfaction, 
which rose significantly with respect to inbound baggage in 
the course of 2013. Coming projects will further improve the 
product and passenger experience.

In the autumn of 2013, Copenhagen Airport introduced a 
self-service baggage-drop solution for SAS and Norwegian, 
the airport's the two biggest customers. The goal is to make 
passengers' way through the airport simpler and faster and 
reduce airline costs. Initially, eight self-service baggage drops 
have been installed in Terminal 3 and four in Terminal 2, with 
19 more to come in 2014. The plan is to connect more and 
more airlines to the facilities.

The number of self-service check-in kiosks (CUSS) was in-
creased by 16 new machines in 2013; Copenhagen Airport 
now has 99 self-service kiosks. As a consequence of the 
extensive conversion of Terminal 2, the proportion of passen-
gers using the self-service kiosks dropped from 50% in 2012 
to 43% in 2013. The satisfaction among users  has remained 
on a high level in recent years. The level of user satisfaction 
was 88 in 2012 on a scale from 1 to 100 (with 100 as the 
best) and fell to 86 in 2013. 

Copenhagen Airport is, moreover, one of the airports in the 
world with the largest share of airlines on a CUSS system. In 
2013, 40 of 73 airlines operating out of Copenhagen on a 
regular basis were on CUSS.

In 2013, CPH invested to DKK 214.0 million in the conver-
sion of Terminal 2, baggage system, additional self-service 
kiosks CUSS) and self-service baggage drop-solutions, etc.

In 2013, manual boarding-card checks were also replaced 
by automated checks at so-called e-gates before security 
screening. The idea is to reduce waiting time and costs and 
to further increase capacity and passenger satisfaction. 

For the eighth time in ten years, Copenhagen Airport was 
presented with the award as Europe's most efficient airport 
by Air Transport Research Society (ATRS), a group of profes-
sors and aviation experts from universities worldwide. 

Initiatives planned for 2014
CPH continues to invest in upgrading the airport's infra-
structure to improve passengers' travel experience. Since the 
beginning of the current regulatory charges agreement, CPH 
has invested DKK 2,921.2 million, DKK 921.2 million more 
than the minimum level required under the agreement.

As a result of the continuing intercontinental growth, CPH 
plans to expand Pier C in 2014 and 2015, which is used for 
both intercontinental and non-Schengen flights. The pier will 
be extended and several aircraft stands modified to increase 
capacity and enhance the passenger experience.

In 2014, CPH will embark on a major conversion and ex-
pansion of the central security screening facilities located 
between Terminals 2 and 3. The growing number of passen-
gers requires an expansion of the area and the number of 
checkpoints. Moreover, new technology will be installed that 
will enhance security and facilitate a better passenger flow.

Following its upgrade and expansion of the outbound bag-
gage facilities, CPH will start a project in 2014 to expand the 
area and facilities for inbound baggage, ensuring a general 
reduction in waiting times. A number of these initiatives will 
be implemented in early 2014 to make Copenhagen Airport 
better prepared for the busy summer period.

CPH also plans to introduce automated boarding at a 
number of gates in 2014. This solution, which will use the 
same type of turnstiles at those installed before the security 
screening checkpoint in 2013, will help increase passenger 
satisfaction and reduce airline costs. 
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Non-aeronautical business

Revenue
Revenue generated by the non-aeronautical segment – rev-
enue from the shopping centre, parking, rent and sales of 
services – rose 0.5%. The many new restaurants, cafés, bars 
and specialty shops Copenhagen Airport has established in 
the shopping centre have had a positive effect, and revenues 
from the Hilton hotel operation and parking also grew year-
on-year. The Hilton especially benefited from a higher level 
of meeting and conference activity and a higher occupancy 
rate. This was partly offset by the effect of the refurbishment 
of the duty- and tax-free shops in the first half of the year.

EBIT
EBIT fell by DKK 18.2 million, mainly due to increased staff 
costs and depreciation charges. This was partly offset by 
continued focus on cost efficiency.

Concession revenue

Shopping centre 
Concession revenue from the shopping centre was down by 
1.0%. New restaurants and specialty shops and an increase 
in the number of international departing passengers had a 
positive effect on revenue. This was offset by the effect of 
a major refurbishment of the duty- and tax-free store in the 
first half of the year, which had a negative effect on revenue 
and lower concession fees. However, a favourable trend was 
seen in online sales on www.tax-free.dk, primarily due to the 
CPH Advantage programme, and a rise in traffic to the site 
from external media. Excluding duty- and tax-free sales, rev-
enue grew by 13.4%, mainly driven by strong sales growth 

in the specialty shops, restaurants and bars following an up-
grade of the shop offering.

At the end of 2012, CPH signed a five-year agreement with 
Gebr. Heinemann on the latter's continued operation of the 
duty- and tax-free shops at Copenhagen Airport. The new 
agreement took effect on 1 March 2013, and the new duty- 
and tax-free shop was officially opened in April 2013.

The trend in the shopping centre towards greater product 
and price differentiation continued in 2013, moving towards 
the goal of strengthening Copenhagen Airport's World 
Class shopping centre. Joe & The Juice and Le Sommelier 
Bar & Bistro put Copenhagen Airport on the world map 
with awards for "Best Airport Coffee Shop" and "Best Air-
port Chef-Led Dining", and Copenhagen Airport won the 
award for the world's strongest airport event for the CPH 
Nordic Dining pop-up restaurant when the prestigious "FAB 
Awards" were presented in Dubai in the autumn of 2013.

Copenhagen Airport successfully repeated last year's chef 
event, offering passengers in August and September exqui-
site Nordic tasting menus by Danish star chefs Thomas Rode, 
Mikkel Marschall and David Johansen.

In early 2013, Marc by Marc Jacobs opened a shop at Co-
penhagen Airport: the first independent Marc by Marc 
Jacobs shop at any European airport, which means that 
Copenhagen Airport once again offered travellers another 
unique shopping experience.

Moreover, an H&M Kids opened in 2013, and Eton opened 
a shirt store in the Nytorv area. A new Joe & the Juice unit 
opened, and the existing unit was expanded. Moreover two 
new Lagkagehuset bakery shops were opened during the 
year, one of them in the landside area, in connection with 
the conversion and expansion of Terminal 2. WH Smith also 
launched its "World of Reading" concept in Terminal 2. 
Lastly, Samsung opened a store in Terminal 3, the brand's 
first flagship store in Denmark.

Because of the increased attractiveness of the shopping cen-
tre, there were no vacancies in the shopping centre in all of 
2013. CPH has thereby created a solid platform for further 
development of its product offering and product mix, since 
the demand for operating stores and restaurants at Copen-
hagen Airport has increased.

Financial performance 2013

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Revenue  1,570.7   1,563.0   7.7  0.5%

Profit before interest  1,019.0   1,037.2   (18.2) (1.8%)

Segment assets  2,800.4   2,816.2   (15.8)  (0.6%)

Concession revenue

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Shopping centre  675.9   683.0   (7.1) (1.0%)

Parking  295.6   287.4   8.2  2.8%

Other	revenue	 	47.9		 	49.7		 	(1.8)	 (3.6%)

Total  1,019.4   1,020.1   (0.7) (0.1%)

20 Management's review



Digital platform
The CPH Advantage loyalty programme increased its mem-
bership base from some 240,000 to 480,000 members in 
the past year. Members are offered free WiFi anywhere at 
the airport, bonus points, special offers, newsletters and 
competitions. 58% of all orders on taxfree.dk are placed 
by CPH Advantage members, who on average have a 20% 
higher spend than other shoppers. In 2013, CPH implement-
ed "earn and burn" in all physical duty- and tax-free shops 
and in a large number of the other airport shops, so that 
passengers can now earn and use points in real time. 

The cph.dk website was relaunched in late 2013 in a new 
responsive design that is automatically scaled to all screens: 
PCs, tablets or smartphones. The new design makes the site 
more user-friendly for the 40% of users who access it using 
their mobile units. 

CPH is now present on Facebook, Instagram, Pinterest, You-
Tube and Twitter. In that way, Copenhagen Airport maintains 
a close dialogue with passengers that helps understand and 
meet passenger's needs. At the end of 2013, CPH's Face-
book page had topped 45,000 fans. 

CPH has entered into a partnership with a global travel dis-
tributor on the development of new services for travellers. 
This helps Copenhagen Airport provide much more relevant 
communication to the right people at the right time and 
in the right situation. The service already launched allows 
all travellers to view their personal travel plan and check in 
directly from several of CPH's digital platforms. This service 
will also reduce airline costs of operating at Copenhagen 
Airport, as it simplifies the check-in process. 

CPH's app, now available in four different languages on all 
relevant mobile platforms, rounded 600,000 downloads by 
the end of 2013, and between seven and eight thousand 
visits are logged each day. In addition, a Chinese version of 

the	app	has	been	launched	for	iOS	and	Android	and	is	now	
available to guide the 65,000 Chinese travellers per year 
through the airport. 

Parking
Copenhagen Airport has more than 10,000 parking spaces 
in 11 car parks close to its terminals. The car parks are divid-
ed into three categories after the merger of the Standard+ 
and Direct categories as part of the price strategy and to 
simplify the parking product. The categories are colour cod-
ed to indicate parking rates and locations, making Copen-
hagen Airport's parking product highly attractive because it 
matches passenger demand. 

Parking revenue rose 2.8%, primarily driven by the online 
segment, where CPH achieved an increase in the average 
ticket price and the number of transactions through cam-
paigns and optimisation. 

As stated in earlier years, CPH focuses on providing better 
parking for our customers. We are seeing a steadily growing 
trend of passengers booking parking via the CPH Airport 
app and online at m.cph.dk, the two mobile platforms sell-
ing CPH parking services created for users of smartphones 
and tablets.

Online	sales	increased	by	3.0%	to	reach	32.0%,	demon-
strating the success of our online activities, partly driven by 
a successful spring campaign and the pricing policy for our 
budget	car	parks.	Optimised	media	purchases	also	increased	
traffic to our online platform. 

Public transport
Copenhagen Airport has a well-developed infrastructure 
that makes it easy and fast for passengers to travel to and 
from the airport. Passengers taking public transport from 
the airport can reach the Copenhagen city centre in just 14 
minutes and the city of Malmo in just 22 minutes. Public 
transport is passengers' preferred mode of transport to the 
airport, with 60.0% of passengers taking public transport 
to Copenhagen Airport in 2013. This represented an 1.0% 
increase on 2012.

The proportion of passengers who took the train to the air-
port was 37.0%, while 21.0% used the Metro. This brings 
Copenhagen Airport well above the European average of 
33.0% of passengers using public transport.

480.000 The advantage loyalty programme 
now has more than 480,000 mem-
bers - an important tool in bringing 
passengers even closer to the airport
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Rent

Rent consists of revenues from leasing of premises for office, 
maintenance, hangar and warehouse use, as well as leasing 
of buildings/head office facilities, properties and concessions 
to companies associated with Copenhagen Airport that sup-
port CPH’s core business: airport operations. Revenue from 
renting premises was down by 7.2%, while revenue from 
land	rent	was	up	by	3.7%.	Overall,	rent	was	down	by	4.5%,	
mainly owing to leases terminated in connection with the 
bankruptcy of Cimber Sterling in 2012.

Sales of services

Hotel operation revenue was up 7.7%, primarily because last 
year's refurbishment was completed and all levels of the ho-
tel were in use. Moreover, the Hilton has seen a higher level 
of meeting and conference activity. The room occupancy 
rate remained higher than the general rate for hotels in the 
Copenhagen city centre. 

The Hilton Copenhagen Airport was rated "Best Business 
 Hotel in Denmark" for the fifth consecutive year at the interna-
tional "Business Destinations Travel Awards 2013" ceremony. 

Other	revenue	also	included	revenue	from	the	service	
scheme for passengers with reduced mobility (PRM). This 
service is provided on a transparent and non-profit basis, 
and the funding covers costs to the external service provider. 

In 2013, CPH signed a three-year agreement with Falck for 
its continued provision of PRM service. Under the new agree-

ment, the level of service will be higher for the 100,000 
passengers who need additional assistance annually, and the 
price will be more competitive.

Other	revenue	also	increased,	due	to	the	opening	of	an	ad-
ditional security screening lane for SAS Fast Track in 2013.

Initiatives planned for 2014
A key focus in 2014 will be on establishing a relationship 
with the active members of the CPH Advantage loyalty 
programme in order to increase the number of Plus and Pre-
mium members. The programme will be further developed 
so that "earn and burn" is implemented in the remaining 
shops, and external business partners will also be integrated 
in the programme. 

One	plan	for	2014	is	for	passengers	to	have	access	to	more	
self-service options via cph.dk, including check-in and the 
website will become more "intelligent" and be able to 
recog nise a user after several visits to the website, so that 
services used will be given higher priority, making it easier 
for the user to navigate the site.

Also in 2014, mobile solutions will be given high priority as 
it is CPH's strategy to supplement online solutions to passen-
gers with mobile versions as well. 

CPH Advantage, CPH's loyalty programme, will increasingly 
be merged with the Copenhagen Airport app, making it eas-
ier for customers to take advantage of offers and use points 
earned. New features will also include mobile payment, i.e. 
customers paying for services by mobile phone.

CPH plans to relaunch taxfree.dk in 2014 and to launch a 
new e-commerce platform, thereby strengthening digitalisa-
tion.	Overall,	the	goal	is	to	give	passengers	opportunities	to	
shop all the way through the travel value chain and to give 
business partners better commercial opportunities to benefit 
from cross-channel traffic from online shopping to physical 
shopping and vice versa.

In 2014, CPH plans to develop and implement a taxi 
management system together with the taxi industry. This 
management system will improve the management of taxi 
queues, ensuring a better passenger experience and shorter 
waits for both taxis and passengers. 

Sales of services, etc.

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Hotel operation  196.1   182.0   14.1  7.7%

Other	 	173.8		 	171.1		 	2.7		 1.5%

Total  369.9   353.1   16.8  4.7%

Rent

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Rent from premises  123.5   133.1   (9.6) (7.2%)

Rent from land  50.3   48.5   1.8  3.7%

Other	rent	 	7.6		 	8.2		 	(0.6)	 (7.6%)

Total  181.4   189.8   (8.4) (4.5%)
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International business

Revenue
Revenue was down DKK 18.2 million year-on-year primarily 
due to the divestment of NIAL in November 2012. 

EBIT
With a negative EBIT of DKK 1.6 million, EBIT is down DKK 
776.3 million year-on-year primarily due to the divestment of 
NIAL in 2012 and costs associated with a focus on develop-
ing the consultancy activities. 

Strategy
After the divestment of NIAL in November 2012, CPH Inter-
national now focuses on providing management consultancy 
services to airports and airport investors. In 2013 CPH Inter-
national focused on developing and expanding the pipeline 
of new consultancy projects. In 2013 CPH International pro-
vided service to clients in Mexico, USA, UK, Philippines, Italy 
and Lithuania. 

Initiatives planned for 2014
In 2014 CPH International will continue to develop and 
increase revenues from the consultancy assistance to the 
airport business. 

Financial performance 2013    

DKK million 2013 2012 Ch. Ch.%

Revenue  2.9   21.1   (18.2) (86.3%)

Other	income	 	-				 	759.1		 	(759.1)	 (100.0%)

Profit before interest  (1.6)  774.7   (776.3) (100.2%)

Segment assets  0.3   2.1   (1.8) (85.9%)

Investments in associates  0.4   0.4  -  -   
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Risk management
Risk management at CPH is based on Danish and interna-
tional corporate government recommendations, including 
the	recommendations	of	COSO	and	the	Danish	Corporate	
Governance Committee.

A continual identification and quantification of risks and as-
sessment of the probability and consequences of events en-
ables CPH to consider and manage the risks that are material 
in relation to the creation of value in CPH.

Strategic risks

While strategic risks, including economic trends and the per-
formance of individual airlines, are the most material risks to 
CPH's long-term performance, they are generally deemed to 
have limited short-term consequences, with the exception of 
SAS, whose activities, situation and performance can have a 
material impact on CPH in the short and long term.

Developments in the airline industry
The airline industry trend of substantial price competition 
has resulted in growing competition for SAS, which contrib-
uted 39.6% of CPH's aeronautical revenue in 2013 (2012: 
40.1%), accounted for 41.8% of the passengers (2012: 
42.0%) and is the largest airline at Copenhagen Airport.

The number of SAS passengers at Copenhagen Airport grew 
by 3.4% and by 1.2% for the SAS Group as a whole.

SAS feeder traffic and the airline's dense route network to 
European and overseas destinations are important in main-
taining the status of Copenhagen Airport as a northern 
European hub.

SAS reported a positive profit in the 2012/13 financial year, 
which was a clear improvement over recent years' losses.

The execution of SAS's new strategy in late 2012 and during 
2013 has laid the foundation for expectations that SAS will 
be able to continue to develop traffic at Copenhagen Airport 
in its strategic partnership with CPH.

Norwegian, which accounted for 16.0% of traffic at Copen-
hagen Airport in 2013 (2012: 14.0%), continued its strong 
growth and is expected to contribute further to the growth 
of Copenhagen Airport in the years ahead, partly through its 
strategic partnership with CPH. 

Along similar lines, easyJet is also growing and accounted 
for 5.2% (2012: 4.3%) of traffic at Copenhagen Airport.

Norwegian, easyJet and other low-cost airlines accounted 
for 24.5% of traffic at Copenhagen Airport in 2013 (2012: 
20.3%).

In 2013, the number of passengers increased by 3.1% year-
on-year, and growth in traffic is expected to continue, also 
after the adjustment for the current economic uncertainty. 

Risk factors

Risk profile
The overall risk profile shown in the matrix above remained 
essentially unchanged from 2012 to 2013.

The greatest risk continues to stem from developments in 
the economy and their effect on air traffic, from develop-
ments at the individual airlines, and from new and possibly 
altered regulatory requirements. 

CPH continually monitors developments at SAS and other 
airlines in order to assess their plans, performance and risks 
in relation to route development at Copenhagen Airport. 

Risks comprise strategic, operating, financial and insurable 
risks.

Material risk after implementation 
of controls and hedging of risks 

Consequence 

High Safety (aircraft accidents) Traffic developments 
 Security (terrorism) (economy)
 Cyberrisks and IT systems  Airlines 
 breakdown  Regulatory requirements 
 Fire
 Sources of funding  
 Airport charges 

 Financial risks  Traffic handling 
  Passenger flow 
  Concessions and letting 
Low
 Low Probability  High
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Regulatory requirements
Through a continuing dialogue with the authorities and po-
litical decision-making forums, CPH seeks to remain at the 
forefront with respect to discussing any coming regulatory 
requirements and their related effects on the aviation indus-
try in order to ensure a reasonable and sound implementa-
tion of the necessary measures.

Airport charges
In September 2009, the airlines and CPH (under the su-
pervision of the Danish Transport Authority (DTA)) signed 
a 5½-year agreement which kept charges generally at the 
same level until 31 March 2011, after which they would be 
increased in accordance with rises in the Danish Consumer 
Price Index plus 1% per year until 31 March 2015. 

With	effect	from	31	October	2010,	the	airlines	and	CPH	(un-
der the supervision of the DTA) entered into a supplementa-
ry agreement which introduced differentiated traffic charges, 
among other things. The charges agreement ensures a rela-
tively predictable development of charges until early 2015.

In 2014, the airlines and CPH will negotiate a new charges 
agreement for the next four or five years, to take effect on 1 
April 2015. 

If the airlines do not reach a new voluntary agreement, the 
DTA will fix the aeronautical revenue cap for 2015-2018 as 
set out in BL 9-15, and the charges will then be fixed within 
the revenue cap.

The airport charges have a direct impact on CPH's ability to 
continue to invest in growth at the same high level

In all the years so far, the airlines and CPH have reached vol-
untary solutions.

Operating	risks

Much of CPH's competitiveness and uniqueness is deter-
mined by the way in which the Company’s main processes 
are handled. 

For this reason, risks related to the main processes are highly 
significant in terms of customer perception of the airport 
and the opportunities to continue the value creation process. 

Operating	risks	may	be	significant	in	the	short	term,	but	they	
are not deemed to have a material impact on the Company’s 
ability to meet its strategic goals. 

The most important operating risks are commented upon in 
the following sections.

Traffic handling
CPH does everything possible to prevent any kind of operat-
ing disruption, and this is key to passenger satisfaction with 
the airport. 

In spite of these efforts, certain interruptions of operations, 
for example due to weather conditions, are unavoidable. 

Resources for such situations are allocated at a level intend-
ed to keep flight cancellations and delays to a minimum.

Passenger flow
An efficient and service-orientated handling of the flow of 
passengers is important to passengers' perception of the 
experience. 

In spite of focused planning, bottlenecks will occur at certain 
times, including at check-in and security screening; the latter 
is mainly due to substantial security requirements. 

CPH seeks to reduce waiting times at check-in through plan-
ning, close collaboration with handling companies and air-
lines, and by increasing the use of electronic check-in. 

In addition, efforts are made to optimise the flow of bag-
gage by continuing to improve the airport's technical facili-
ties.

Safety and security
Passenger safety and security is the Company’s greatest pri-
ority. For this reason, a large share of the resources used at 
CPH has to do with safety and security. 

CPH puts a great deal of effort into safety and security; so 
the probability of events occurring that compromise passen-
ger safety and security is deemed to be very low. Safety and 
security are continually monitored by the DTA. 

CPH works closely in all areas with the DTA, the police, the 
Danish tax authorities and the environmental authorities.
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Cyberrisks, IT systems breakdown and fire
CPH is very much aware of the risk of cyberattacks (hacking 
and viruses), IT systems breakdown and fire and has set up 
extensive safety and security procedures and preparedness 
measures to handle such risks.

Concessions and letting
There are a number of contract-related risks connected with 
CPH’s concession agreements and leasing of premises, land, 
etc. 

CPH seeks to limit these risks through competition and credit 
assessment, by seeking legal assistance when entering into 
contracts, by requiring collateral, by managing and terminat-
ing contracts, and through continual follow-up and dialogue 
with concessionaires and tenants. 

Concession revenue trends are generally very much related 
to trends in air traffic.

Financial risk

CPH’s financial risks are managed from its head office. The 
principles and framework governing the Company’s financial 
management are laid down once a year, as a minimum, by 
the Board of Directors. For additional information on finan-
cial risk, see note 20 on pages 65-70.

CPH continually seeks to plan its financial resources so that it 
always has access to sufficient long-term funding and credit 
facilities to support its strategy. 

CPH has received credit ratings from two credit rating sys-
tems: BBB (Moodys) and BBB+ (Fitch). 

Therefore, CPH expects to continue to have opportunities of 
raising long-term financing on attractive terms.

Insurable risk

As part of its general risk management, CPH has taken out 
insurance against a number of insurable risks in an extensive 
insurance programme.
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CPH’s	share	was	listed	on	the	NASDAQ	OMX	Nordic	Large	
Cap segment throughout 2013. The Large Cap segment 
consists of companies with a market capitalisation of EUR 1 
billion or more.

Investor relations policy
CPH's IR policy is to offer a consistently high level of infor-
mation on CPH's goals, performance and outlook through 
an active and open dialogue with shareholders, investors 
and other stakeholders.

Shares
At 31 December 2013, CPH's share capital comprised 
7,848,070 shares with a nominal value of DKK 100 each, or 
a total of DKK 784,807,000. CPH has only one share class, 
and no shares carry special rights.

The	CPH	shares	are	listed	on	NASDAQ	OMX	Copenhagen	
A/S under Securities Code ISIN DK0010201102. Turnover in 
CPH shares during the 2013 financial year totalled 55 thou-
sand shares, equivalent to 0.1% of the total share capital, or 
an average of 226 shares per business day. The total value of 
the shares traded was DKK 8.9 million. CPH's market capital-
isation was DKK 21.9 billion at the end of the financial year 
compared with DKK 15.9 billion at the end of 2012.

Shareholders
CPH had 3,303 registered shareholders at 31 December 
2013.

Shareholder structure (as at 31 December 2013)
Copenhagen Airports Denmark ApS (CAD)  ............... 57.7%
The Danish State  ....................................................... 39.2%
Foreign private and institutional investors  .................... 1.3%
Danish private and institutional investors  ..................... 1.8%

CAD	is	jointly	controlled	by	the	Ontario	Teachers'	Pension	
Plan	(OTPP)	and	Macquarie	European	Infrastructure	Fund	III	
(MEIF3).

See note 18 on related parties for a further description of 
OTPP's	and	MEIF3's	ownership	of	shares	in	CPH.

Management's interests  
at 31 December 2013

Board of Directors
Jesper Bak Larsen: 15 shares ..... (15 shares at year-end 2012)

No options or warrants have been issued to the members of 
the Board of Directors or Executive Management. See note 7 
on remuneration of members of the Executive Management.

Shareholders holding more than 5% of the share capital
The following shareholders held more than 5% of the share 
capital at 25 February 2014: Copenhagen Airports Denmark 
ApS (CAD), c/o Visma Services Denmark A/S, Lyskær 3C, 
2730 Herlev, and the Danish State.

Share buyback programme
CPH has not purchased treasury shares since the Annual 
General Meeting held in April 2013. At the end of the year, 
CPH held none of its own shares.

Dividend policy
CPH's goal is to create shareholder value. A key element 
in doing so is the maintenance of an efficient and prudent 
capital structure that provides funding for business and in-
vestment requirements.

IR activities in 2013
In 2013, shareholders and other stakeholders could find 
 updated information on CPH’s financial performance at 
www.cph.dk. In addition, two issues of CPH's newsletter  
to shareholders, CPH News, were distributed in 2013. As 
was the case in 2013, the Annual Report is also available in 
a digital version in 2014 at www.cph.dk.

Analyst coverage
As a result of CPH’s ownership structure, no share analysts 
cover CPH.

Shareholder information
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Corporate social responsibility
CPH joined the UN Global Compact in 2011.

For 2013 (as for 2010, 2011 and 2012), CPH has elected to 
prepare a statutory report on corporate social responsibility 
designed	as	a	"communication	on	progress"	(COP)	included	
in CPH's CSR report, CPH and Society 2013.

For reports on knowledge and environment, see CPH and 
Society 2013.

Targets and policies for the under represented gender
CPH considers diversity on the Board of Directors and at 
other management levels to be a benefit that contributes 
to the Company's performance and enhances management 
efficiency. 

For this reason, CPH has – based on the rules set out in the 
Danish Companies Act in this respect – defined target fig-
ures for the required percentage of women on the Board of 
Directors and prepared a policy for increasing the number of 
women at other management levels. 

For reporting on target figures and the policy and its imple-
mentation in 2013, see CPH and Society 2013.

CPH and Society 2013 is available in hardcopy on request 
from CPH's head office and in an electronic version on the 
corporate website at http://www.cph.dk/en/about-cph/inves-
tor1/Publications/.

The	COP	is	also	available	on	the	UN	website,	 
www.unglobalcompact.org.

Corporate governance
For 2013 (as for 2010, 2011 and 2012) CPH has elected to 
prepare a separate report on corporate governance, including 
a description of the position CPH takes on the recommenda-
tions of the Danish Corporate Governance Committee.

The report also includes a description of the main elements 
of CPH's internal control and risk management system in 
connection with the financial reporting process.

The full report is available on CPH's website at  
http://www.cph.dk/en/about-cph/investor1/corporate-gov-
ernance/Corporate-Governance-statements/.

As to the current composition of the various board 
 committees, please see http://www.cph.dk/en/about-cph/ 
investor1/corporate-governance/ for committee membership 
information.

Reference to reports on 
 corporate social responsibility 
and corporate governance 
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Board of Directors

Henrik Gürtler
Chairman, CEO of Novo A/S – born 1953
•	 Independent member of the Board of Directors
•		M.Sc.	in	Chemical	Engineering	from	the	Tech-

nical University of Denmark, 1976
•		Research	Chemist	at	Novo	Nordisk,	1977
•		Project	manager/coordinator	of	Enzymes	R&D,	

1981-84, head of department of Enzymes 
R&D, 1984-86, and head of function, 1986-91

•		Director	of	Human	Resources	Services	of	Novo	
Nordisk, 1991-92, and director of Human 
 Resource Development, 1992-93

•		Director	of	Health	Care	Production	of	Novo	
Nordisk,	1993-95,	and	COO	and	member	of	
the Group Management with special responsi-
bility for Corporate Staff, 1996-2000

•		CEO	of	Novo	A/S	since	2000
•		Chairman	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Novo-

zymes A/S
•		Member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Copen-

hagen Airports A/S since 2002 and Chairman 
since 2004

Simon Geere
Managing Director i Macquarie Infrastructure 
and Real Assets (Europe) Limited – born 1968
•		20	years	of	experience	working	in	the	trans-

port industry, 18 of which have been within 
the airport sector

•		Joined	Macquarie	in	2002	having	held	senior	
positions with both TBI plc and BAA plc. At 
TBI plc he was Business Development Director 
at Luton Airport and was responsible for com-
mercial operations and aviation development 
activities

•		Director	of	Brussels	Airport,	Bristol	Airport,	
Newcastle Airport and the Stockholm Arlanda 
Express rail link

•		Previously	a	director	at	Birmingham	Airport,	
Luton Airport and Newcastle Airport

•		Has	an	honours	degree	in	Transport	Studies,	 
a BSc (Hons) and a Master of Business Admin-
istration (MBA)

•		Member	of	the	Chartered	Institute	of	Logistics	
and Transport (MCILT)

•		Member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Copen-
hagen Airports since 2010

David Stanton
Asset Director, Ontario Airports Investments 
Limited (OAIL) – born 1969
•		Over	17	years	of	experience	working	in	the	

airport industry
•		Works	for	OAIL,	which	is	majority	owned	 
by	the	Ontario	Teachers'	Pension	Plan	and	
provides investment management advisory 
services for Brussels, Bristol, Birmingham and 
Copenhagen Airports

•		Previously	a	director	at	Bristol	and	Brussels	
 Airports and MAp Airports UK Ltd., a wholly 
owned subsidiary of MAp Airports. Lead 
shareholder representative working with 
 Copenhagen Airports A/S since 2009.

•		Managing	Director	at	Macquarie	Capital	from	
2007-2009

•		Corporate	Development	Director	from	1997-
2007 at BBA Aviation plc, a listed UK-based 
global aviation services business

•		Qualified	as	a	Chartered	Accountant	with	
PWC in 1994

•		British	citizen	and	resides	in	London	
•		Member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Copen-

hagen Airports A/S since 2011 and currently 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee

Christopher Timothy Frost 
Senior Managing Director, Macquarie Infra-
structure and Real Assets (MIRA) – born 1969
•		Has	almost	20	years	of	experience	in	invest-

ment banking and investing in Europe, Asia 
and	Oceania.	

•		Worked	in	the	transport	infrastructure	sector	
for over 15 years and has significant experience 
in the airport sector in Europe and Australia. 

•		Was	involved	in	significant	acquisitions	of	the	
airports at Bristol, Birmingham, Rome, Brussels 
and Copenhagen and of ASUR 

•			Was	formerly	a	member	of	the	Board	of	
 Directors of the airports at Bristol (chairman), 
Brussels and Rome. 

•		Has	a	B.Ec	(Hons).	
•		He	was	previously	a	member	of	the	Board	of	

Directors of Copenhagen Airports A/S in 
2011-2012

•		Member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Copen-
hagen Airports since 2013

Janis Kong
Non-Executive Board Member – born 1951
•		Non-Executive	Director	and	Audit	and	Risk	

Committee member of Kingfisher plc and 
Network Rail, Portmeirion Group PLC, Non-Ex-
ecutive Director and Audit Committee mem-
ber of TUI Travel PLC

•		During	her	33-year	career	with	BAA	plc,	Janis	
Kong held a number of operational roles and, 
until her retirement in 2006, she was a director 
with BAA plc and Chairman of Heathrow 
 Airport Ltd and Heathrow Express. Until July 
2012, Chairman of the Board of Trustees of 
Forum for the Future

•		Prior	to	that,	she	was	Managing	Director	of	
Gatwick Airport. Janis Kong was previously a 
Non-Executive Director of the Royal Bank of 
Scotland Group Plc

•		British	citizen	and	resides	in	London
•		She	has	a	BSc.	in	Psychology	from	the	Univer-

sity of Edinburgh
•		Member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Copen-

hagen Airports A/S since 2012 and currently 
member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee

Chris Ireland
Director, Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan with 
special focus on Asset Management – born 
1970
•		Joined	OTPP	in	2006	having	previously	

worked in investment banking and the power 
generation sector 

•		Canadian	citizen	and	resides	in	Toronto
•		MBA	from	the	Stern	School	of	Business	at	

New York University
•		He	has	an	MSc.	in	Mechanical	Engineering	

from the University of Waterloo, Canada
•		Professional	Engineer	licensed	in	Ontario
•		Currently	member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	 

of Brussels Airport, InterGen NV and Global 
 Container Terminals, having also previously 
served as a member of the Board of Directors 
of Bristol Airport

•		Member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Copen-
hagen Airports since 2011

Employee representatives on 
the Board of Directors

Jesper Bak Larsen.
Electrician – born 1971
•		Employed	with	Copenhagen	Airports	A/S	

since 1997
•		Shop	steward	for	electricians	in	ETB,	ETF	and	

TVC
•		Deputy	Chairman	of	the	local	electrician	club
•		Member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Copen-

hagen Airports since 2011

Stig Gellert
Firefighter – born 1965
•		Employed	with	Copenhagen	Airports	A/S	

since 1988 
•		Shop	steward	for	fire-fighters	employed	under	

a collective agreement
•		Deputy	Chairman	of	the	CPH	fire	depart-

ment’s local communication committee
•		Member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Copen-

hagen Airports since 2007

Ulla Thygesen
Security Officer – born 1968
•		Employed	with	Copenhagen	Airports	A/S	

since 1995
•		Shop	steward	for	the	SVO	(Surveillance	and	

Area Security) guard staff at CPH
•		Deputy	Chairman	of	the	joint	committee	of	

the local union branches
•		Deputy	Chairman	of	Security’s	local	communi-

cation committee
•		Member	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Copen-

hagen Airports since 2007
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Executive Management

Thomas Woldbye
CEO – born 1964
•		Management	Trainee	in	A.	P.	Møller-Mærsk	in	

1983
•		From	1985-2005	he	held	a	number	of	senior	

management positions at the corporate A.P. 
Møller-Mærsk	HQ	in	Copenhagen,	as	well	as	
in Indonesia, Singapore, China, Hong Kong 
and Europe

•		From	2001,	he	was	appointed	Group	Senior	
Vice	President	in	A.P.	Møller-Mærsk's	central	
European	HQ	in	Holland

•		I	2004,	he	was	appointed	Group	CEO	of	
 Norfolkline Group based in Holland

•		BSc. in Finance from the Copenhagen Business 
School and management training at London 
Business School and IMD, Switzerland

•		Chairman	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	
 Copenhagen Airports International A/S and 
Copenhagen Airports' Hotel and Real Estate 
Company A/S

•		Joined	Copenhagen	Airports	A/S	on	1	May	
2011	as	CEO

Thomas Woldbye
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Income statement, 1 January - 31 December 

Note  DKK million  2013 2012
    

 Traffic revenue   2,070.9 1,931.7

 Concession revenue   1,019.4 1,020.1

 Rent   181.4 189.8

 Sale of services, etc.   372.8 374.2

3, 4 Revenue   3,644.5 3,515.8

   

5 Other income   1.5 761.4

6 External costs   576.1 573.8

7 Staff costs   1,074.0 1,035.3

8 Amortisation and depreciation   622.7 558.7

 Operating profit   1,373.2 2,109.4

    

9 Financial income   3.1 3.7

9 Financial expenses   204.5 197.8

 Profit before tax   1,171.8 1,915.3

    

10 Tax on profit for the year   195.7 300.5

    

 Net profit for the year   976.1 1,614.8

    

27 Earnings per DKK 100 share (basic and diluted)   124.4 205.8

 EPS is stated in DKK    
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Statement of comprehensive income, 1 January - 31 December

Note  DKK million  2013 2012
    

 Net profit for the year   976.1   1,614.8 

 Items that may be reclassified to the income statement   

5 Value adjustments of hedging reserve on divestment of associates 

 transferred to Other income in the income statement  -  (16.8)

5 Reversal of currency translations in associates on divestment, 

 transferred to Other income in the income statement  -  (25.4)

 Value adjustments of hedging instruments   (69.1)   (120.5)

 Value adjustments of hedging instruments transferred to financial income 

 and expenses in the income statement   65.0   42.0 

10 Tax on other comprehensive income   1.0   19.6 

 Other comprehensive income for the year   (3.1)  (101.1)

    

 Total comprehensive income for the year   973.0   1,513.7 
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Balance sheet, Assets at 31 December 

Note  DKK million  2013 2012
    

 NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

    

11 Total intangible assets    483.9   408.6 

    

12 Property, plant and equipment    

 Land and buildings    4,498.3   4,114.9 

 Plant and machinery    3,394.7   2,742.1 

 Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment    489.0   443.0 

 Property, plant and equipment in progress    287.4   1,119.9 

 Total property, plant and equipment    8,669.4   8,419.9 

    

 Financial investments    

13 Investments in associates    0.4   0.4 

 Other financial assets    0.1   0.1 

 Total financial investments    0.5   0.5 

    

 Total non-current assets    9,153.8   8,829.0 

    

    

 CURRENT ASSETS    

    

 Receivables    

14 Trade receivables    298.6   253.8 

 Other receivables    7.6   49.2 

 Prepayments    62.2   47.4 

 Total receivables    368.4   350.4 

    

 Cash    37.0   832.8 

    

 Total current assets    405.4   1,183.2 

    

 Total assets    9,559.2   10,012.2 
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Balance sheet, Equity and liabilities at 31 December 

Note  DKK million  2013 2012
    

 EQUITY    

 Share capital    784.8   784.8 

 Reserve for hedging    (140.1)  (137.0)

 Retained earnings    2,255.9   2,954.4 

 Total equity    2,900.6   3,602.2 

    

    

 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

10 Deferred tax    892.1   959.0 

15 Financial institutions and other loans    4,173.1   3,286.9 

20 Other payables    618.4   459.2 

 Total non-current liabilities    5,683.6   4,705.1 

    

    

 CURRENT LIABILITIES    

15 Financial institutions and other loans   30.8   576.1 

 Prepayments from customers    169.2   63.6 

 Trade payables    328.0   522.6 

10 Income tax    170.5   199.0 

16, 20 Other payables    268.2   342.4 

 Deferred income    8.3   1.2 

 Total current liabilities    975.0   1,704.9 

    

 Total liabilities    6,658.6   6,410.0 

    

 Total equity and liabilities    9,559.2   10,012.2 
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Statement of changes in equity, 1 January - 31 December

Note  DKK million 

    Reserve for 
  Share  Reserve for currency Retained 
  capital hedging translation earnings Total

      

 Equity at 1 January 2013  784.8   (137.0)  -   2,954.4  3,602.2

      

 Comprehensive income for the year     

 Net profit for the year  -   -   -   976.1   976.1 

      

 Other comprehensive income     

 Value adjustments of hedging instruments  -  (51.8)  -   -   (51.8) 

 Value adjustments of hedging instruments 

 transferred to financial income and expenses 

 in the income statement  -   48.7   -   -   48.7 

 Total other comprehensive income  -   (3.1)  -   -   (3.1)

      

 Total comprehensive income for the year  -   (3.1)  -   976.1   973.0 

      

 Transactions with owners     

 Dividends paid  -   -   -   (1,674.6)  (1,674.6)

 Total transactions with owners  -   -   -   (1,674.6)  (1,674.6)

      

 Equity at 31 December 2013  784.8   (140.1)  -   2,255.9   2,900.6 

  See the Parent Company's statement of equity with respect to which reserves are available for distribution. Dividend per 
share is stated under group financial highlights and key ratios on page 11. Retained earnings include proposed dividends 
of DKK 521.2 million. Proposed dividend per share amounts to DKK 66.41. Based on the interim profit for the six months 
ended 30 June 2013, an interim dividend of DKK 454.9 million was distributed on 19 August 2013, equivalent to DKK 
57.96 per share. Dividend paid in 2013 consists of dividend in respect of 2012 of DKK 1,219.7 million and dividend in 
respect of 2013 of DKK 454.9 million. Disclosures about capital are stated in Shareholder information, on pages 27.
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Statement of changes in equity, 1 January - 31 December (continued)

Note  DKK million

    Reserve for 
  Share  Reserve for currency Retained 
  capital hedging translation earnings Total

      

 Equity at 1 January 2012  784.8   (78.1)  25.4   2,183.8   2,915.9 

      

 Comprehensive income for the year     

 Net profit for the year   -    -    -   1,614.8   1,614.8 

      

 Other comprehensive income     

5 Value adjustments of hedging reserve on 

 divestment of associates, transferred to 

 Other income in the income statement  -     -     -     (16.8)  (16.8)

5 Reversal of currency translation in associates 

 on divestment, transferred to Other income 

 in the income statement  -     -     (25.4)  -     (25.4)

 Value adjustments of hedging instruments  -     (90.4)  -     -     (90.4)

 Value adjustments of hedging instruments 

 transferred to financial income and expenses 

 in the income statement  -     31.5   -     -     31.5 

 Total other comprehensive income  -     (58.9)  (25.4)  (16.8)  (101.1)

      

 Total comprehensive income for the year  -     (58.9)  (25.4)  1,598.0   1,513.7 

      

 Transactions with owners     

 Dividends paid  -     -     -     (827.4)  (827.4)

 Total transactions with owners  -     -     -     (827.4)  (827.4)

      

 Equity at 31 December 2012  784.8   (137.0)  -     2,954.4   3,602.2 

      

  See the Parent Company's statement of equity with respect to which reserves are available for distribution. Dividend per 
share is stated under group financial highlights and key ratios on page 11. Retained earnings include proposed dividends 
of DKK 1,219.7 million. Proposed dividend per share amounts to DKK 155.42. Based on the interim profit for the six 
months ended 30 June 2012, an interim dividend of DKK 395.1 million was distributed on 14 August 2012, equivalent to 
DKK 50.34 per share. Dividend paid in 2012 consists of dividend in respect of 2011 of DKK 432.3 million and dividend in 
respect of 2012 of DKK 395.1 million. Disclosures about capital are stated in Shareholder information, on pages 27.  
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Cash flow statement, 1 January - 31 December 

Note  DKK million  2013 2012
    

 CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

21 Received from customers    3,705.4   3,473.9 

22 Paid to staff, suppliers, etc.    (1,794.0)  (1,374.6)

 Cash flow from operating activities before financial items and tax    1,911.4   2,099.3 

23 Interest received, etc.    1.9   1.7 

24 Interest paid, etc.    (239.4)  (220.0)

 Cash flow from operating activities before tax    1,673.9   1,881.0 

10 Income taxes paid    (290.1)  (208.6)

 Cash flow from operating activities    1,383.8   1,672.4 

    

    

 CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

12 Payments for property, plant and equipment     (739.1)  (935.5)

11 Payments for intangible assets     (172.3)  (133.4)

 Sales of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment    1.7   3.1 

 Sales of investments in associates    -   716.9 

 Cash flow from investing activities    (909.7)  (348.9)

    

    

 CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

 Repayments of long-term loans    (1,068.9)  (9.8)

 Proceeds from long-term loans    1,456.1   - 

 Repayments of short-term loans    (73.4)  (425.0)

 Proceeds from short-term loans    90.9   425.0 

 Dividends paid    (1,674.6)  (827.4)

 Cash flow from financing activities    (1,269.9)  (837.2)

    

 Net cash flow for the year    (795.8)  486.3 

    

 Cash at beginning of year    832.8   346.5 

    

 Cash at the end of the year    37.0   832.8 
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Notes to the financial statements

The structure of the 2013 Group Annual Report has been 
changed from the previous year to make the report more 
manageable and readable. The accounting policies and 
 estimates and judgments for specific items are moved to 
the appropriate note and all information related to the 
item are hereby in one place.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
CPH is a limited company domiciled in Denmark and listed 
on NASDAX OMX.

The consolidated financial statements of CPH are prepared 
in accordance with the International Financial reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) 
and additional Danish disclosure requirements to listed 
companies.

The additional Danish disclosure requirements are stated in 
the Danish Statutory Order on Adoption of IFRS issued in 
pursuance of the Danish Financial Statements Act and the 
rules issued by NASDAX OMX.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with  
the IFRS, which are issued by the IASB (the International 
Accounting Standards Board).

The financial statements of the Parent Company, Copen-
hagen Airports A/S, are prepared in accordance with the 
Danish Financial Statements Act.

New financial reporting standards and interpretations
The accounting policies, including presentation, are un-
changed from those applied in the 2012 Annual Report 
except for the below mentioned changes. 

The financial reporting standards, the amendments and in-
terpretations to the financial reporting standards adopted 
by the IASB and EU in the financial year 2013 have been 
implemented. The amendments to IFRS 7 "Financial instru-
ments:  Presentation" are relevant to CPH. 

Significant accounting estimates
The estimates made by CPH in the determination of the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are based on as-
sumptions that are subject to future events. These include, 
among other things, estimates of the useful lives of intan-
gible assets and property, plant and equipment and their 
residual values. Estimates and underlying assumptions are 
based on historical data and a number of other factors 
that Management considers relevant under the given cir-
cumstances. The carrying amounts of these items are dis-
closed in notes 11 and 12.

A number of estimates of cash flows and discount factors 
are made when assessing the need for impairment.

Note

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

For a description of CPH’s risks, see note 20 on financial 
risks.

General information
The Group Annual Report is prepared on the basis of the 
historic cost principle. Assets and liabilities are subse-
quently measured as described below.

Basis of consolidation
The annual report comprises the Parent Company, Co-
penhagen Airports A/S, and companies in which the Par-
ent Company directly or indirectly controls the majority 
of the votes or in any other way controls the companies 
(subsidiaries). Companies in which CPH controls less than 
50% of the votes and does not have control but exercis-
es a significant influence are considered associates.

In the consolidation, intercompany income and expenses, 
shareholdings, dividends and balances, and realised and 
unrealised intercompany gains and losses on transactions 
between the consolidated companies are eliminated.

CPH’s group annual report is prepared on the basis of the 
financial statements of the Parent Company and the sub-
sidiaries. The financial statements used in the consolida-
tion are prepared in accordance with CPH’s accounting 
policies.

Acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase meth-
od. Intangible assets in acquired companies which con-
cern concessions and the like for airport operation are 
recognised and amortised over periods of up to 50 years 
based on an individual assessment, including the term of 
the concession. The amount at which the cost of the 
company acquired exceeds CPH’s share of the fair value 
of the net assets at the time of acquisition is recognised 
as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortised; instead impair-
ment tests are made regularly, and any impairment is 
charged to the income statement.

Newly acquired or newly established companies are rec-
ognised in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date of acquisition. Companies divested or wound up are 
consolidated in the income statement until the date they 
are divested or wound up. The comparative figures are 
not restated to reflect acquisitions or divestments.

Foreign currency translation
CPH’s functional currency is Danish kroner. This currency 
is used as the measurement and presentation currency in 
the preparation of the annual report. Therefore, other 
currencies than Danish kroner are considered foreign cur-
rencies.
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Notes to the financial statements

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are trans-
lated at the exchange rate ruling at the transaction date. 
Gains and losses arising as a result of differences between 
the exchange rate at the transaction date and the ex-
change rate at the date of payment are  recognised in the 
income statement as financial income or financial expens-
es.

Receivables, payables and other monetary items denomi-
nated in foreign currencies that have not been settled on 
the balance sheet date are translated at the exchange 
rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Differences between 
the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date and at 
the transaction date are recognised in the income state-
ment as financial income or financial expenses.

When translating the financial statements of foreign sub-
sidiaries and associates, the income statement is translated 
at average exchange rates, while balance sheet items are 
translated at the exchange rates ruling at the balance 
sheet date. Exchange differences arising on the translation 
of the foreign companies’ equity at the beginning of the 
year and on the translation of foreign company income 
statements from average exchange rates to the exchange 
rate ruling at the balance sheet are taken directly to other 
comprehensive income.

Profit/(loss) from investments in associates
Investments in subsidiaries and associates are recognised 
and measured in the consolidated financial statements 
 according to the equity method. In the income statement, 
the proportionate share of the profit after tax for the year 
is recognised under the line item Profit/(loss) from invest-
ments in associates after tax.

Gains and losses on the divestment of associates are deter-
mined as the difference between the sales price and the 
carrying amount of the net assets at the date of divest-
ment including goodwill less anticipated costs involved in 
the divestment. Exchange differences regarding associates 
recognised in other comprehensive income are recycled on 
the divestment of associates and included in gains or loss-
es. Gains or losses are recognised in the income statement.

Statement of comprehensive income
CPH presents comprehensive income in two statements. 
An income statement and a statement of comprehensive 
income showing the results of operations for the year and 
income included in other comprehensive income. Other 
comprehensive income comprises exchange rate adjust-
ments, adjustments of investments in associates and hedg-
ing transactions. Tax related to other comprehensive in-
come for the individual items is disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements.

Note

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Equity
Dividends expected to be declared in respect of the year 
are stated under equity. Dividends are recognised as a lia-
bility at the time of adoption by the shareholders in gen-
eral meeting.

Prepayments and deferred income
Prepayments recognised under assets comprise costs in-
curred relating to the following financial year and are 
measured at nominal value.

Deferred income recognised under liabilities comprises 
payments received relating to income in subsequent fi-
nancial years and is measured at nominal value.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement shows CPH’s cash flows for the 
year distributed on operating, investing and financing ac-
tivities, net changes for the year in cash as well as CPH’s 
cash at the beginning and end of the year. 

Cash
Cash includes cash and balances in accounts at no or 
short notice.

Cash flow from operating activities
The cash flow from operating activities comprises pay-
ments from customers less payments to employees, sup-
pliers etc., adjusted for financial items paid and income 
taxes paid.

Cash flow from investing activities
The cash flow from investing activities comprises cash 
flows from the purchase and sale of intangible assets, 
property, plant and equipment and financial investments, 
including acquisitions and dividends received from associ-
ates.

Cash flow from financing activities
The cash flow from financing activities comprises cash 
flows from the raising and repayment of long-term and 
short-term debt to financial institutions as well as pay-
ments to shareholders.
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Note  DKK million 

2 One-off items

 Accounting policies

  One-off items comprise revenue and expenses of an exceptional nature relative to CPH's operating activities, such as 
costs incurred for structuring of processes and structural adjustments as well as any gains and losses on divestments 
related thereto and which, over time, are of material importance. Moreover, other amounts of an one-off nature are 
included in this line item, including gains on the divestment of operations.

  Including  Excluding 
  one-off One-off one-off 
  items items items

 2013   

3, 4 Revenue  3,644.5   -    3,644.5 

5 Other income  1.5   -    1.5 

6 External costs  576.1   (6.0)   570.1 

7 Staff costs  1,074.0   (6.4)   1,067.6 

 EBITDA  1,995.9   12.4   2,008.3 

8 Amortisation and depreciation  622.7   -    622.7 

 Profit before interest and tax  1,373.2   12.4   1,385.6 

9 Net financing costs  201.4   -    201.4 

 Profit before tax  1,171.8   12.4   1,184.2 

10 Tax on profit of the year  195.7   3.1   198.8 

 Profit after tax  976.1   9.3   985.4 

 2012   

3, 4 Revenue  3,515.8   -   3,515.8 

5 Other income  761.4   (759.1)   2.3 

6 External costs  573.8   (3.3)   570.5 

7 Staff costs  1,035.3   (6.8)   1,028.5 

 EBITDA  2,668.1   (749.0)   1,919.1 

8 Amortisation and depreciation  558.7   -   558.7 

 Profit before interest and tax  2,109.4   (749.0)   1,360.4 

9 Net financing costs  194.1   -   194.1 

 Profit before tax  1,915.3   (749.0)   1,166.3 

10 Tax on profit of the year  300.5   2.5   303.0 

 Profit after tax  1,614.8   (751.5)   863.3 

    



Financial statements46

Note 

3 Segmental information

 Accounting policies

 The accounting policy for recognition and measurement of segmental information is the same as for the income state  
 ment and balance sheet.

  The operating results of the segments comprise directly attributable revenue less related operating costs. Operating 
costs comprise External costs, Staff costs and Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment.

 

  Segment assets comprise non-current assets used directly in the operating activities of each segment and current assets 
directly attributable to the operating activities of each segment, including Trade receivables, Other receivables, Prepay-
ments and Deferred income. Jointly used properties are allocated to the segments on the basis of an overall assumption 
of the amount of space used.

 

  Segment liabilities comprise liabilities that have arisen out of the segment operations, including Prepayments received 
from customers, Trade payables and Other payables.

 

 Operating segments

 CPH has three segments: Aeronautical, Non-aeronautical and International.

 

  The segmental classification follows the legal and the organizational classification of the Group activities, and the aero-
nautical segment comprises the regulated part (traffic charges) of Copenhagen Airports. The non-aeronautical segment 
(except for the international activities in the International segment) comprises all other activities. This classification is 
 appropriate, as the aeronautical segment reporting at the same time equals the reporting of the regulatory activities 
under BL 9-15 (traffic charges). BL 9-15 is described in note 19.

 

 Aeronautical

  The operations and functions which the airports at Kastrup and Roskilde make available so that airlines can operate their 
flights, including facilities required for the passengers’ traffic through these airports. Revenue in the aeronautical segment 
comprises passenger, security, take-off and parking charges and other income, including handling and CUTE.

 

 Non-aeronautical

  The facilities and services provided at the airports to passengers and others, including parking facilities, shops, restaurants, 
rest areas, lounges and the hotel. The vast majority of the operations are operated by concessionaires. Furthermore, the 
business area comprises the segment engaged in leasing of CPH’s buildings, premises and land to non-Group lessees. 
Revenue in the non-aeronautical segment comprises concession revenue, rent from buildings, premises and land, revenue 
from parking, hotel operation, PRM services and other services.

 

 International

  Consulting services to associated companies and other airports. The consulting services are provided by Copenhagen 
Airports International A/S. Revenue in the international segment comprises sales of consulting services concerning airport 
operation.

 

  Revenue related to CPH's largest customer amounted to DKK 966.0 million in 2013 (2012: DKK 911.2 million) represent-
ing 26.5% of revenue in 2013 (2012: 25.9 %). The revenue relates to the two business areas Aeronautical and Non-
aeronautical. Revenue related to the second largest customer amounted to DKK 376.0 million in 2013 (2012: DKK 417.0 
million) representing 10.3% of revenue in 2013 (2012: 11.9%). The revenue relates to the Non-aeronautical business.

Notes to the financial statements
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Note  DKK million 

3 Segmental information (continued)

   Business areas

   Aero- Non-aero- Inter- 
   nautical nautical national Total

 2013     

      

 Revenue  2,070.9 1,570.7 2.9 3,644.5

 Operating profit  355.8 1,019.0 (1.6) 1,373.2

 Non-current segment assets  6,511.7 2,641.6 - 9,153.3

 Other segment assets  209.4 158.8 0.3 368.5

 Investments in associates    0.4 0.4

 Non-allocated assets     37.0

 Total assets  6,721.1 2,800.4 0.7 9,559.2

 Segment liabilities  453.8 318.3 1.6 773.7

 Non-allocated liabilities     5,884.9

 Total liabilities  453.8 318.3 1.6 6,658.6

      

 Investments in fixed assets (including capitalised interests) 821.7 126.1 - 947.8

 Amortisation and depreciation  477.9 144.8 - 622.7

 2012     

      

 Revenue  1,931.7 1,563.0 21.1 3,515.8

 Operating profit  297.5 1,037.2 774.7 2,109.4

 Non-current segment assets  6,168.1 2,660.4 - 8,828.5

 Other segment assets  192.5 155.8 2.1 350.4

 Investments in associates    0.4 0.4

 Non-allocated assets     832.9

 Total assets  6,360.6 2,816.2 2.5 10,012.2

 Segment liabilities  588.9 248.1 2.7 839.7

 Non-allocated liabilities     5,570.3

 Total liabilities  588.9 248.1 2.7 6,410.0

      

 Investments in fixed assets (including capitalised interests) 957.3 175.4 - 1,132.7

 Amortisation and depreciation  429.6 129.1 - 558.7

 * Non-allocated assets include cash and financial assets.

 ** The Non-allocated liabilities include deferred taxes, credit institutions and other loans, other long-term liabilities and income tax payable.

 Compared to the 2012 Group Annual Report, CPH has chosen to reclassify certain deliveries and services and the related assets, etc. in the   
 segments in order to obtain a more precise allocation of these activities in line with the business and management responsibility in CPH. The   
 segmental allocation is in accordance with the approach outlined in IFRS 8. The comparative figures for 2012 have been restated.
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4 Revenue

 Accounting policies

  Revenue comprises the year’s traffic revenue, rent, concession revenue and sales of services, net of value added tax and 
price reductions directly related to sales. Please see the section on segmental information in note 3 Segmental informa-
tion.

  Traffic revenue comprises passenger, security, take-off and parking charges, handling and CUTE charges (IT technology 
used in connection with check-in) and is recognised when the related services are provided. Start-up discounts to un-
served routes are deducted in the traffic revenue. The NOX charge is included in take-off charges.

  Concession revenue comprises sales-related revenue from Copenhagen Airport’s shopping centre, which is recognised in 
line with the revenue generated by the concessionaires. Revenue from parking facilities is recognised upon completion 
of parking (exit).

 Rent comprises rent for buildings and land and is recognised over the terms of the contracts.

  Revenue from Sales of services, etc. comprises revenue from the hotel operation and other activities, including services 
to persons with reduced mobility (PRM), which is recognised when delivery of the services takes place.

 Traffic revenue

 Take-off charges  397.5 378.2

 Passenger charges  969.6 898.9

 Security charges  480.2 444.0

 Handling  167.7 155.3

 Aircraft parking, CUTE, etc.  55.9 55.3

 Total traffic revenue  2,070.9 1,931.7

    

 Concession revenue   

 Shopping centre  675.9 683.0

 Car parking  295.6 287.4

 Other concession revenue  47.9 49.7

 Total concession revenue  1,019.4 1,020.1

    

 Rent   

 Rent from premises  123.5 133.1

 Rent from land  50.3 48.5

 Other rent  7.6 8.2

 Total rent  181.4 189.8

    

 Sales of services, etc.   

 Hotel operation  196.1 182.0

 Other sales of services, etc.  173.8 171.1

 Non-aeronautical activities  369.9 353.1

 International activities  2.9 21.1

 Total sales of services, etc.  372.8 374.2

    

 Total revenue  3,644.5 3,515.8

    

Notes to the financial statements



Financial statements 49

Note  DKK million  2013 2012

4 Revenue (continued)

 Rent relating to leases interminable by lessee   

 Within 1 year  108.2 120.3

 Between 1 and 5 years  151.9 93.4

 After 5 years  157.6 158.7

 Total  417.7 372.4

    

  Concession charges (minimum charges) related to shopping centre and other concessions are subject to the level of activ-
ity. Consequently it is not possible to determine the present value thereof.

5 Other income

 Accounting policies

  Other income contains items of a secondary nature compared to CPH’s activities, including gains and losses on sales of 
assets.

 Sales of property, plant and equipment   1.5   2.3 

 Divestments in NIAL, England   -    759.1 

 Total other income   1.5   761.4 

    

  In 2012, CPH realised one-off income of DKK 759.1 million related to the divestment of international assets. See note 2 
for an overview of one-off items.

  In 2012, Divestments in NIAL, England includes reversal of currency translation of DKK 25.4 million relating to NIAL and 
reversal of value adjustments of hedging reserve related to NIAL of DKK 16.8 million.

6 External costs

 Accounting policies

  External costs comprises administrative expenses, sales and marketing expenses and other operating and maintenance 
costs.

    

 Operation and maintenance  392.7 392.5

 Energy  69.2 72.5

 Administration  95.2 102.6

 Other  19.0 6.2

 Total external costs  576.1 573.8

  Audit fee to PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditors appointed at the annual general meeting, amounted to DKK 1.4 mil-
lion (2012: DKK 1.4 million). Fees for assurance engagements other than audit amounted to DKK 0.1 million (2012: DKK 
0.1 million), for tax advice DKK 0.1 million (2012: DKK 0.1 million) and  fees to PricewaterhouseCoopers for non-audit 
services amounted to DKK 0.6 million (2012: DKK 0.5 million).

  In 2013, CPH incurred one-off costs of DKK 6.0 million mainly related to restructuring and charges regulation (2012: DKK 
3.3 million). See note 2 for an overview of one-off items.



Financial statements50

Note  DKK million  2013 2012

7 Staff costs

 Accounting policies

  Staff costs comprise salaries, wages and pensions to CPH staff including the Executive Management and emoluments to 
the Board of Directors as well as other staff costs.

  Regular pension contributions under defined contribution plans are recognised in the income statement in the period in 
which they arise. For civil servants seconded by the Danish State, CPH recognises a pension contribution in the income 
statement, which is fixed each year by the State and paid to the State on a regular basis. 

 Salaries and wages  1,059.1 1,021.2

 Pensions  90.3 85.3

 Other social security costs  7.9 7.5

 Other staff costs  53.4 48.0

   1,210.7 1,162.0

 Less amount capitalised as fixed assets  136.7 126.7

 Total staff costs  1,074.0 1,035.3

    

 Cash emoluments to Executive Management including pension, company cars, etc.  8.7 11.9

 Three-year incentive plan for members of the Executive Management, see below  2.3 3.5

 Emoluments to the Board of Directors  2.3 2.1

    

  Out of the salaries to the members of the Executive Management, employer-administered pensions accounted for DKK 
0.9 million (2012: DKK 1.6 million).

  Emoluments to the Board of Directors in 2013 comprised DKK 900,000 to the Chairman, Henrik Gürtler, DKK 300,000 to 
staff representatives, and DKK 300,000 to Janis Kong. Since 30 June 2008, the other Board members who are not staff 
representatives have decided to renounce their emoluments.

  Emoluments to the Audit and Risk Management Committee in 2013 comprised DKK 150,000 to Janis Kong. In 2013, the 
other members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee have decided to renounce their emoluments.

  The remuneration of members of the Executive Management consists of a fixed basic salary (including pension), certain 
benefits (free company cars, etc.) and a bonus plan, which is described below. In case of termination of employment by 
CPH, members of the Executive Management are entitled to a maximum of 12 months' salary and a maximum of 24 
months' severance payment. 

  In order to promote a good long-term behaviour, a rolling three-year plan has been introduced for the Executive Manage-
ment with first benefits payable in 2014. For 2013, the total cost related to the long-term incentive plan was DKK 2.3 mil-
lion (2012: DKK 3.5 million). Payments under this three-year incentive plan cannot exceed 6 months' salary for any of the 
participants per annum. Short-term bonus agreements have terms of up to one year. The target of the short-term bonus 
agreements are 50% of the executive's fixed annual salary but the value may total up to a maximum of 75% if targets 
are exceeded. 

  

Notes to the financial statements
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7 Staff costs (continued)

  The total remuneration in 2013 to the members of the Executive Management was DKK 11.0 million (2012: DKK 14.9 
million) including a provision for potential pay-out of DKK 2.3 million under the long-term incentive plan (2012: DKK 2.2 
million). Management consisted in 2013 of one member, CEO Thomas Woldbye, compared with two in the first half of 
2012 and one in the second half of 2012. Pension contributions to members of the Executive Management are paid in 
regularly to private pension companies. CPH has no liabilities related thereto. 

  The remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Management in 2013 was made   in accordance with the "Gen-
eral guidelines for remuneration to the Board of Directors and Executive Management of Copenhagen Airports A/S".

  The average number of people employed by CPH in 2013 was 2,122 full-time equivalents (2012: 2,073 full-time equiva-
lents). The figure includes 33 civil servants who, pursuant to the Copenhagen Airports Act, have retained their employ-
ment with the State (2012: 38 civil servants).

  CPH makes annual pension contributions to the Danish State. The contributions are paid for the employees who, under 
their contracts of employment, are entitled to pension from the Danish State. The rate of pension contributions is fixed by 
the Minister of Finance and amounted to 21.2% in 2013 (2012: 21.2%). In 2013, the pension contribution amounted to 
DKK 1.9 million (2012: DKK 2.0 million).

  In 2013, CPH incurred one-off costs of DKK 6.4 million (2012: DKK 6.8 million) related to restructuring, including redun-
dancy payments. See note 2 for an overview of one-off items.

8 Amortisation and depreciation

 Accounting policies

  Amortisation and depreciation comprises the year’s charges for this purpose on CPH’s intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment.

 Software  97.0 96.9

 Land and buildings  174.8 165.9

 Plant and machinery  231.0 181.8

 Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment  119.9 114.1

 Total amortisation and depreciation  622.7 558.7

9 Financial income and expenses

 Accounting policies

  Financial income and expenses include interest, realised and unrealised exchange differences, recycled accumulated 
gains and losses on swaps related to terminated hedges, amortisation of mortgage loans and other loans, including 
reversal of fair value adjustments of effective hedges of loans, supplements and allowances under the on-account tax 
scheme.  Fair value adjustment of interest elements of swaps being classified as a cash flow hedge accounting are recog-
nised in comprehensive income.
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9 Financial income and expenses (continued)

 Financial income   

 Interest on balances with banks, etc.  0.4 0.3

 Interest on other receivables  1.2 1.0

 Net exchange gains  0.6 1.8

 Gains on forward exchange contracts  0.9 0.6

 Total financial income  3.1 3.7

  Gains on forward exchange contracts mainly consist of realised and unrealised gains on hedges of cash flows from non-
aeronautical cash flows.

 The net amount of exchange gains recognised in 2013 includes an unrealised exchange gain of DKK 65.0 million (2012:

 unrealised exchange gain of DKK 42.0 million) related to long-term loans denominated in USD and GBP offset by an unre- 
 alised exchange loss on currency swaps of DKK 65.0 million (2012: an unrealised exchange loss of DKK 42,0 million)   
 relating to the same loan. 

 Financial expenses   

 Interest on debt to financial institutions and other loans, etc.  216.4 210.0

 Capitalised interest expenses regarding assets under construction  (36.4) (32.2)

 Exchange losses  1.3 0.9

 Loss on forward exchange contracts  0.9 0.8

 Other financing costs  16.8 12.8

 Amortisation of loan costs  5.5 5.5

 Total financial expenses  204.5 197.8

    

  In the calculation of loan costs for the cost of assets, an effective rate of interest of 6.0% (2012: 6.0%) was applied in 
2013, corresponding to CPH’s weighted average cost of capital of borrowings for purchases of property, plant and equip-
ment. No specific loans have been raised for the construction or development of assets. 

  As stated in note 20 on financial risks under Currency Swaps and Hedging transactions, CPH uses currency swaps to 
hedge foreign currency loans so that the exchange rate exposure to interest as well as principal is converted from the for-
eign currency into fixed payments in DKK throughout the terms of the respective loans. The loans in question have been 
fully hedged.

  Exchange rate adjustment of loans as well as currency swaps (for loan principals) are recognised in financial income/ex-
penses in the income statement in a net amount of zero, as the exchange rate adjustment of the loans is fully balanced 
off by an opposite exchange rate adjustment of the currency swaps.

  Losses on forward exchange contracts mainly consist of realised and unrealised losses on hedges of non-aeronautical cash 
flows.

  Other financing costs mainly consist of commitment fees which CPH pays to have committed credit facilities available.

  Amortisation of loan costs relates primarily to costs in connection with the establishment of bank facilities in 2011 and 
bond issues in 2003, 2010 and 2013. 

Notes to the financial statements
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10 Tax on profit for the year and deferred and payable tax

 Accounting policies

  Copenhagen Airports A/S is taxed jointly with Kastrup Airports Parent ApS (KAP), Copenhagen Airports Denmark Hold-
ing ApS (CADH) and Copenhagen Airports Denmark ApS (CAD) and the two wholly-owned subsidiaries Copenhagen 
Airports International A/S (CAI) and Copenhagen Airports’ Hotel and Real Estate Company A/S (KLHE). KAP is a manage-
ment company for the jointly taxed companies and settles corporate taxes to the tax authorities. CPH, CAI and KLHE pay 
tax on account to KAP and settle tax underpaid/overpaid with KAP when the annual notices of assessment are received 
from the tax authorities.

  Income tax for the year, consisting of the year’s current tax and the year’s deferred tax, is recognised in the income state-
ment as regards the amount that can be attributed to the profit for the year, and posted directly in other comprehensive 
income as regards the amount that can be attributed to movements therein. 

  Current tax liabilities are carried on the balance sheet as Current liabilities to the extent such items have not been paid. 
Tax overpaid on account is included as a separate line item under Receivables. Interest and allowances regarding tax pay-
ments are recognised under Financial income or Financial expenses.

  Deferred tax is calculated according to the balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences between the ac-
counting and tax value of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax adjustments are made regarding unrealised intercompany 
gains and losses.

 Significant estimates and judgments

  Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the tax rules and tax rates that will apply under the legislation in force at the 
balance sheet date when the deferred tax item is expected to crystallise as current tax. Changes in deferred tax resulting 
from changes in tax rates are recognised in the income statement.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised in the balance sheet at the value at which they are expected to be realisable.

 Tax expense   

 Current income tax   261.6   298.2 

 Change in deferred tax charge   (66.9)   (17.3) 

 Total   194.7   280.9 

    

 Tax is allocated as follows:   

 Tax on profit for the year   195.7   300.5 

 Tax on other comprehensive income related to hedging instruments   (1.0)   (19.6) 

 Total   194.7   280.9 

    

 Breakdown of tax on profit for the year   

 Tax calculated at 25% of profit before tax   293.0   478.8 

 Reduction of company tax rate from 25% to 22% until 2016   (115.1)   -  

 Tax effect of:   

 Tax-exempt income   -    (189.8) 

 Non-deductible costs including effect of interest limitation   17.8   11.5 

 Total   195.7   300.5 
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10 Tax on profit for the year and deferred and payable tax  (continued)

 Provision for deferred tax   

 Balance at 1 January   959.0   976.3

 Reduction of company tax rate from 25% to 22% until 2016  (115.1)  - 

 Change in deferred tax charge   48.2   (17.3) 

 Balance at 31 December   892.1   959.0 

    

 Breakdown of deferred tax provision:   

 Property, plant and equipment   871.9   959.8 

 Other receivables   0.8   1.0 

 Other payables   19.4   (1.8) 

 Total   892.1   959.0 

 Income tax payable   

 Balance at 1 January   199.0   109.4 

 Tax paid on account in current year   (91.1)   (99.2) 

 Payment of tax underpaid in previous year   (199.0)   (109.4) 

 Current income tax   261.6   298.2 

 Balance at 31 December   170.5   199.0 

  Of the deferred tax liability DKK 0 million is expected to be settled within the next 12 months (2012: DKK 0 million), while 
DKK 892.1 million of the deferred tax liability is expected to be settled after more than 12 months (2012: DKK 959.0 million).

 The Company is subject to interest limitation rules. As a result of the uncertainty regarding the utilisation of interest costs  
 carried forward, the Company has decided not to recognise the tax base of the interest expenses carried for  ward. The tax  
 base of the interest costs carried forward is DKK 64.0 million.

  From 1 July 2012, Copenhagen Airports A/S has had a subsidiary liability for the tax liabilities of the Danish holding compa-
nies, which hold 57.7% of the shares of the Company. The latter liability is limited to 57.7% of tax liabilities payable on or 
after 1 July 2012.

 In 2013, CPH incurred one-off tax expenses of DKK 3.1 million (2012: one-off tax expense of DKK 2.5 million). 

11 Intangible assets
 

 Accounting policies

  Major projects in which software is the principal element are recognised as assets if there is sufficient certainty that the 
capitalised value of future earnings can cover the related costs.

 Software primarily comprises external costs and other directly attributable costs.

  Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis commencing when the project is ready for use. The amortisation period 
is 3-10 years.

 

 Impairments

  The carrying amount of intangible assets is tested at least annually for any indications of impairment of the value 
beyond what is expressed in the amortisation or depreciation charges. If that is the case, an impairment charge is taken 
against the recoverable amount of the assets, if that is lower than the carrying amount.

Notes to the financial statements
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11 Intangible assets (continued)

  The recoverable amount of the asset is determined as the higher of the net selling price and the value in use. If it is not 
possible to determine a recoverable amount for the individual assets, the assets are assessed together in the smallest 
group of assets for which a reliable recoverable amount can be determined in an overall assessment.

 Significant estimates and judgments

 The estimated useful lives are determined based on historical experience and expectations of future use of the assets. The  
 expected future use of the assets may prove to be unrealisable, which could lead to future reassessment of the useful lives  
 and a need for impairment losses.

     Software  
     under  
    Software construction Total

 2013

 Cost

 Accumulated cost at 1 January    687.5   169.4   856.9 

 Additions   -   172.3   172.3

 Disposals    (7.8)  -   (7.8) 

 Transferred   155.2  (155.2) -

 Accumulated cost at 31 December    834.9   186.5   1,021.4 

      

 Amortisation     

 Accumulated amortisation at 1 January    448.3   -   448.3 

 Amortisation    97.0   -   97.0 

 Amortisation on disposals    (7.8)  -   (7.8)

 Accumulated amortisation at 31 December    537.5   -   537.5 

      

 Carrying amount at 31 December    297.4   186.5   483.9 

 2012

 Cost     

 Accumulated cost at 1 January   603.5 140.4 743.9

 Additions   - 133.5 133.5

 Disposals   (20.5) - (20.5)

 Transferred   104.5 (104.5) -

 Accumulated cost at 31 December   687.5 169.4 856.9

      

 Amortisation     

 Accumulated amortisation at 1 January   371.9  -  371.9

 Amortisation   96.9  -  96.9

 Amortisation on disposals   (20.5)  -  (20.5)

 Accumulated amortisation at 31 December   448.3  -  448.3

      

 Carrying amount at 31 December   239.2 169.4 408.6

      

      



Financial statements56

Note  

12 Property, plant and equipment

 

 Accounting policies

 Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation.

 

  Cost comprises the cost of acquisition and costs directly related to the acquisition up until the time when the asset is 
ready for use. In the case of assets of own construction, cost comprises direct costs attributable to the asset, including 
salaries and wages, materials, components, and work performed by subcontractors. Cost also includes interest expenses 
during construction.

 

  On initial recognition, lease contracts for property, plant and equipment under which CPH has substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership (finance leases) are initially measured in the balance sheet at the lower of the fair value and the 
present value of future lease payments. The present value is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease as the 
discount factor, or an approximate value. Assets held under finance leases are subsequently accounted for as CPH’s other 
property, plant and equipment. The capitalised lease obligation is recognised in the balance sheet as a liability, and the 
financial charge is recognised in the income statement over the term of the contract.

 

  All lease contracts that are not considered finance leases are considered operating leases. Payments in connection with 
operating leases are recognised in the income statement over the term of the leases.

 

  The depreciation base is determined as cost less any residual value. Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets and begins when the assets are ready for use.

 

 Land is not depreciated.

Notes to the financial statements
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12 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment:

 Land and buildings

 Land improvements (sewers, etc.)   40 Years

 Buildings   40-100 years

 Fitting out   5-10 years

 Plant and machinery

 Runways, roads, etc. (foundation)   80-100 years

 Surface of new runways, roads, etc.   10 years

 Technical installations on runways   15 Years

 Technical installations (lifts, etc.)    20 years

 Technical installations in buildings    25 years

 Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment

 IT equipment    3-5 years

 Energy plant     15 years

 Vehicles, etc.   4-15 Years

 Furniture and fittings   10 years

 Hotel equipment    15-20 years

 Security equipment   10 years

 Technical equipment   10 years

 Other equipment    5 years

 Gains and losses on the sale of non-current assets are recognised under Other income.

 Significant estimates and judgments

  CPH’s choice of historical cost rather than fair value as the basis for measuring property, plant and equipment has a mate-
rial impact on the determination for accounting purposes of the results of operations and equity. 

 Impairments

  The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is tested at least annually for any indications of impairment of 
the value beyond what is expressed in the amortisation or depreciation charges. If that is the case, an impairment charge 
is taken against the recoverable amount of the assets, if that is lower than the carrying amount (see also note 11 for a 
description of impairment).
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12 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

     Other Property, 
     fixtures and plant and 
     fittings, equipment 
  Land and  Investments Plant and tools and under 
  buildings* properties machinery equipment construction Total

 2013 

 Cost

 Accumulated cost at 1 January  6,654.1   -   5,832.7   1,502.2   1,119.9   15,108.9 

 Additions -  -  -  -   775.5   775.5 

 Disposals (63.2)  -  -   (97.0)  -  (160.2) 

 Transferred 558.2 - 883.6   166.2  (1,608.0) -

 Accumulated cost at 31 December  7,149.1   -   6,716.3   1,571.4   287.4   15,724.2 

       

 Depreciation      

 Accumulated depreciation at 1 January  2,539.2   -   3,090.6   1,059.2   -   6,689.0 

 Depreciation  174.8  -  231.0   119.9  -  525.7 

 Depreciation on disposals  (63.2) -  -   (96.7) -  (159.9)

 Accumulated depreciation  
 at 31 December  2,650.8   -   3,321.6   1,082.4   -   7,054.8 

       

 Carrying amount at 31 December  4,498.3   -   3,394.7   489.0   287.4   8,669.4 

 2012 

 Cost      

 Accumulated cost at 1 January  6,685.5   164.3   5,672.0   1,707.2   455.8   14,684.8 

 Additions -  - -  -   999.3   999.3 

 Disposals (241.3)  - (58.6)  (275.3)  -  (575.2) 

 Transferred from investment properties  164.3   (164.3)  -  - -  - 

 Transferred 45.6 -  219.3  70.3 (335.2) -

 Accumulated cost at 31 December  6,654.1   -   5,832.7   1,502.2   1,119.9   15,108.9 

       

 Depreciation      

 Accumulated depreciation at 1 January  2,614.6   -   2,967.4   1,219.6   -   6,801.6 

 Depreciation  165.9  -  181.8   114.1  -  461.9 

 Depreciation on disposals  (241.3) -  (58.6)  (274.5) -  (574.4)

 Accumulated depreciation  
 at 31 December  2,539.2   -   3,090.6   1,059.2   -   6,689.0 

       

 Carrying amount at 31 December  4,114.9   -   2,742.1   443.0   1,119.9   8,419.9 

 * CPH properties have been mortgaged for a total value of DKK 665.0 million (2012: 665.0 million).

Notes to the financial statements
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13 Investments in associates

 Accounting policies

  Investments in associates are measured according to the equity method. In the balance sheet, the proportionate interest 
in the carrying amount of the companies is recognised determined according to CPH’s accounting policies minus or plus 
unrealised intercompany gains or losses and plus or minus remaining unallocated value in excess of the carrying amount 
of the assets. Exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

  Shares held in other companies are measured at fair value. The fair value of listed securities is the market value on the 
balance sheet date (the sales value). Until realised, market value adjustments of shares are recognised in other compre-
hensive income. Upon realisation, gains/losses are recognised in the income statement.

 Impairments

  The carrying amount of financial assets is tested at least annually for any indications of impairment of the value beyond 
what is expressed in the amortisation or depreciation charges. If that is the case, an impairment charge is taken against 
the recoverable amount of the assets, if that is lower than the carrying amount (see also note 11 for a description  of 
impairment).

 Investments in associates

 Cost

 Accumulated cost at 1 January   0.2   677.3 

 Disposals   -   (677.1)

 Accumulated cost at 31 December   0.2   0.2 

    

 Revaluation and impairment   

 Accumulated revaluation and impairment at 1 January   0.2   (676.9)

 Disposals   -   677.1 

 Accumulated revaluation and impairment at 31 December   0.2   0.2 

    

 Carrying amount at 31 December   0.4   0.4 

    

 List of associated companies, see note 28.   
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14 Trade receivables

 Accounting policies

  Receivables are recognised in the balance sheet at amortised cost less any write down. Provisions are determined on the 
basis of an individual assessment of each receivable.

 Significant estimates and judgments

  The write-down is based on an objective indication of impairment, such as outstanding payments, financial difficulties 
e.g. the debtor's suspension of payments, bankruptcy or expected bankruptcy.

 Trade receivables   328.1   281.7 

 Write-down   29.5   27.9 

 Net trade receivables   298.6   253.8 

    

 Write-down for bad and doubtful debts   

 Accumulated write-down at 1 January   27.9   42.0 

 Change in write-down for the year   0.2   12.9 

 Realised loss for the year   1.4   4.6 

 Reversal   -   (31.6)

 Accumulated write-down at 31 December   29.5   27.9 

  The year's movements are recognised in the income statement under External costs. The carrying amount equals fair 
value.

  In a number of cases, CPH receives collateral security for sales on credit, mainly regarding non-aeronautical activities, and 
such collateral is included in the assessment of the write-down required for bad and doubtful debts. The collateral may 
be in the form of financial guarantees. Out of the trade receivables of DKK 298.6 million (2012: DKK 253.8 million), DKK 
59.7 million (2012: DKK 130.2 million) is covered by collateral security. The maximum credit risk is reflected in the carrying 
amount of the financial assets in the balance sheet.

  CPH's trade receivables at 31 December 2013 included receivables of DKK 39,5 million (2012: DKK 29,3 million), which 
were written down to DKK 10,0 million (2012: DKK 1.4 million) on the basis of an individual assessment. 

  In addition, overdue receivables as at 31 December which had not been written down totalled DKK 27.3 million (2011: 
DKK 39.7 million). The interval exceeding 90 days primarily relates to PRM. The list of receivables by maturity is as follows:

    

 Overdue but not impaired receivables divided by maturity   

 Less than 30 days  4.8 12.3 

 30 to 90 days  0.2 3.9 

 More than 90 days  22.3 23.5 

 Total  27.3 39.7 

Notes to the financial statements
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15 Financial institutions

 Accounting policies

  Mortgage loans, loans from financial institutions and other loans are recognised when obtained at the proceeds received 
less transaction costs incurred. In subsequent periods, the loans are measured at amortised cost so that the effective 
interest charges are recognised in the income statement over the term of the loan.

 Financial institutions and other loans are recognised in the balance sheet as follows:

 Non-current liabilities  4,173.1 3,286.9

 Current liabilities  30.8 576.1

 Total  4,203.9 3,863.0

 CPH had the following loans as at 31 December:

 Carrying amount Fair value*

 Loan Currency Fixed/floating Maturity date 2013 2012 2013 2012

 Overdraft DKK  Floating -  17.5   -   17.5   - 

 RD (DKK 151 million)** DKK Fixed 31 Mar 2020  74.0   84.2   74.0   84.2 

 RD (DKK 64 million)** DKK Fixed 23 Dec 2032  61.4   64.0   61.4   64.0 

 Nordea Kredit** DKK  Floating 30 Dec 2039  450.9   450.9   451.9   451.9 

 Danske Bank DKK Floating 29 Mar 2016  150.0   -   150.0  

        

 USPP bond issue USD Fixed 27 Aug 2013  -   565.9   -   578.2 

 USPP bond issue USD Fixed 27 Aug 2015  541.3   565.9   577.7   614.9 

 USPP bond issue USD Fixed 27 Aug 2018  541.3   565.9   606.0   660.3 

 USPP bond issue USD Fixed 29 Jun 2018  541.3   565.9   586.1   645.5 

 USPP bond issue USD Fixed 29 Jun 2020  795.7   831.9   874.0   984.3 

 USPP bond issue USD Fixed 22 Aug 2023  866.0   -   814.1   - 

        

 USPP bond issue GBP Fixed 29 Jun 2020  205.1   210.1   215.1   244.1 

 Total     4,244.5   3,904.7   4,427.8   4,327.4 

        

 Loan costs for amortisation     (40.6)  (41.7)  (40.6)  (41.7)

 Total     (40.6)  (41.7)  (40.6)  (41.7)

        

 Total     4,203.9   3,863.0   4,387.2   4,285.7 

 *  See note 20 for a description of the method for determining the fair value of the financial liabilities.

 **  CPH properties have been mortgaged for a total value of DKK 665.0 million (2012: DKK 665.0 million).

  The fixed rate USPP bonded loans of USD 607 million and GBP 23 million (2012: USD 547 million and GBP 23 million) 
were swapped to DKK on closing of contract both in terms of principal and interest payments through currency swaps.

  The interest rate risk in connection to the floating rate loan from Nordea Kredit is hedged through an interest rate swap 
until 2020.
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16 Other liabilities

 Accounting policies

  Provisions are recognised when the Group as a result of events occurring before or on the balance sheet date has a legal 
or constructive obligation and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits to settle the obligation.

  Other payables primarily comprise holiday pay liabilities, income taxes, other taxes and interest payable and are measured 
at nominal value. Other payables also comprise the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

 Holiday pay and other payroll items   216.8   193.2 

 Interest payable   36.1   37.7 

 Cash flow hedge (USPP bond)   -    90.1 

 Other costs payable   15.3   21.4 

 Balance at 31 December   268.2   342.4 

17 Financial commitments

  CPH is committed to provide redundancy pay to civil servants pursuant to the provisions of the Danish Civil Servants Act. 
See note 7.

  As at 31 December 2013, CPH has entered into contracts to build facilities and other commitments totalling DKK 261.1 
million (2012: DKK 256.6 million). Major commitments include contracts concerning renewal of stands, renewal of HPFI 
relays and other refurbishments.

  Under a management agreement between Hilton International and Copenhagen Airports’ Hotel and Real Estate Compa-
ny A/S, CPH has undertaken to pay the contractual consideration to Hilton for managing the hotel. The agreement expires 
on 31 December 2021.

  Under the agreement with Naviair for the provision of air traffic services, CPH has undertaken to be liable for any TNC 
charges which Naviair users may fail to pay. This liability takes effect when the claim has been ascertained and document-
ed as irrecoverable, and when other specifically agreed terms and conditions have been met.

 Debt to financial institutions is secured by mortgage on CPH's properties as described in note 15.

  CPH is subsidiary liable for the tax liabilities of the Danish holding companies, which hold 57.7% of the shares of the 
Company. See note 10 for additional information.

  CPH has no significant agreements to which CPH is party and which take effect, alter or terminate upon change of con-
trol of CPH.

Notes to the financial statements
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Note   

18 Related parties

 

  CPH’s related parties are the Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan (OTPP) and Macquarie European Infrastructure Fund III 
(MEIF3), cf. their controlling ownership interests in CPH and associates cf. note 28, and the Board of Directors and Execu-
tive Management. See also note 7 regarding remuneration to the Board of Directors and Executive Management.

 

  OTPP and MEIF3 (via their respective underlying holding companies) jointly own and control Copenhagen Airports Den-
mark ApS (CAD), company reg. (CVR) no. 29144249. CAD is indirectly controlled by Kastrup Airports Parent ApS (KAP), 
company reg. (CVR) no. 33781903, which is owned by OTPP and MEIF3.

 

  KAP is thereby the ultimate holding company of CPH. The consolidated annual report of KAP, in which CPH is included as 
a subsidiary, may be obtained from KAP through Visma Service Denmark A/S, Lyskær 3C, DK-2730 Herlev, Denmark.

 

  CAD owns 57.7% of both the shares and voting rights of CPH.

 

  OTPP and MEIF3 (through their respective underlying holding companies) have signed a shareholders’ agreement provid-
ing for agreement between the two parties on all material resolutions. The agreement also stipulates rules for the nomi-
nation of members of the Board of Directors of CPH.

 

  For additional information on OTPP and MEIF3, see www.otpp.com and www.macquarie.co.uk/mgl/uk/meif/meif-3.

 

  Until the divestment of NIAL Group Ltd. in November 2012, CPH provided consultancy services to its foreign associate 
NIAL, primarily consisting of the transfer of know-how and experience relating to efficient airport operations, cost effec-
tive expansion of infrastructure, flexible capacity utilisation and optimisation of commercial potential. Revenue from such 
consulting activities in 2012 totalled DKK 16.5 million.

 

 



Financial statements64

Note 

19 Concession for airport operation and charges regulation

  Pursuant to section 55 of the Danish Air Transport Act, special licenses from the Minister of Transport are required for 
airport operation. The licences for the airports at Kastrup and Roskilde, which are issued administratively by the Danish 
Transport Authority (DTA), expire on 1 December 2015. The licenses are granted for periods of five years at a time.

 

  The Minister of Transport may lay down regulations concerning the charges that may be levied on the use of a public 
airfield – "Charges Regulation". For additional information, see the Copenhagen Airports Act, the Danish Air Transport 
Act, the Copenhagen Airport Expansion Act, the Articles of Association of Copenhagen Airports A/S and EU regulations, 
including regulations concerning design, operation, facilities, etc.

 

  Charges regulation for CPH is defined by DTA in BL 9-15 of 8 March 2011 "Regulation on payment for use of airports 
(Airport charges)". According to BL 9-15 the airlines and the airport are first required to seek consensus on the future air-
port charges in the coming regulatory period. If this is not possible, the DTA will set annual revenue caps, which comprise 
the maximum total amount the airport can use for each of the years as a basis for setting the charges for the use of the 
aeronautical facilities and services (fall-back). If the charges are negotiated by the parties, the parties must also agree on 
the length of the coming regulatory period. The regulatory period is four years in the event that the parties cannot agree 
on the terms and conditions through negotiation.

 

  BL 9-15 includes various rules on the determination of charges by negotiation and in the event of a fall-back situation. In 
a fall-back situation, the revenue cap will be determined to cover the operating costs, depreciation and cost of capital for 
efficient operation of the airport. On the basis of the revenue cap, CPH is then required to prepare a proposal for charges 
for the regulatory period, for approval by the DTA. BL 9-15 includes various rules on how to calculate these revenue caps. 

 

 In September 2009, the airlines and CPH (under supervision of the DTA) signed a 5½ -year agreement regarding the   
 determination of charges under which charges were generally unchanged until 31 March 2011, after which charges are  
 increased in accordance with increases in the Danish Consumer Price Index plus 1% per year until 31 March 2015.

 

  In August 2010, the airlines and CPH (under supervision of the DTA) entered into an agreement regarding an addendum 
to the existing charges agreement which introduced differentiated traffic charges. The passenger charge for using the 
new CPH Go low-cost facility was reduced by approximately 35% under the new agreement as compared with the exist-
ing passenger charge.

 

 The passenger charge for other international departures and domestic transfers was reduced, while charges for domes-  
 tic departures, international transfers and the security and handling charges were all increased. The changes took effect

  on 31 October 2010, the date when CPH Go was opened. In addition to the modified passenger charges, the agreement  
 also included a new charge based on aircraft emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOX), a charge designed to promote the use  
 of more environmentally friendly aircraft. 

 

  In November 2011, the airlines and CPH (under the supervision of the DTA) entered into an agreement regarding an 
addendum to the existing charges agreement regarding establishment of an express security service, CPH Express, which 
opened in early January 2012.

 On 1 March 2014, the airlines and CPH start negotiations on a future charges agreement regarding charges for the period 

 after 1 April 2015. The negotiations must be completed no later than 1 September 2014, and if an agreement is not   
 reached the fall-back situation applies.

Notes to the financial statements
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20 Financial risks

 

 Accounting policies

  In connection with CPH’s hedging of future transactions and cash flows, derivative financial instruments are used as part 
of CPH’s risk management.

  Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value on the transaction date under 
Other receivables or Other payables respectively.

  Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated as fair value hedges of a recognised 
asset or a recognised liability are recognised in the income statement together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged asset or hedged liability.

  Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as hedges of expected future cash flows are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under Reserve for hedging. If the expected future transac-
tion results in the recognition of non-financial assets or liabilities, amounts previously deferred in other comprehensive 
income are transferred via other comprehensive income from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost 
of the asset or liability respectively. Other amounts deferred in other comprehensive income as part of equity are trans-
ferred to the income statement in the period in which the hedged transaction affects the income statement.

  Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments used to hedge net investments in independent foreign 
subsidiaries and associates which use a presentation currency different from that used by CPH are recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income with respect to the effective part of the hedge, while the ineffective part is recognised in 
the income statement.

 Significant estimates and judgment

  The fair value of interest rate and currency swaps is determined as the present value of expected future cash flows. The 
fair value of forward currency transactions is determined using the forward rate at the balance sheet date.

 

 CPH's risk management policy

  CPH’s financial risks are managed from its head office. The principles and framework governing CPH's financial manage-
ment are laid down once a year by the Board of Directors as a minimum. The financial risks occur primarily as a result of 
operating and investing activities and are hedged to the greatest possible extent.
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20 Financial risks (continued)

 Credit risks

  CPH’s credit risks are primarily related to receivables, bank deposits, securities, and derivative financial instruments.

 

  The credit risk regarding receivables arises when CPH’s revenue by way of traffic charges, concession charges, rent, etc. 
are not prepaid, or when customer solvency is not covered by guarantees, etc.

 

  CPH's revenue comprises aeronautical revenue from national and international airlines and non-aeronautical revenue from 
national and international companies within and outside the aviation industry. As part of CPH's internal procedures re-
garding risk management, the credit risk relating to customers is monitored on a monthly basis. This is done by reviewing 
any failure to pay amounts due and assessing whether the customer has financial problems.

 

  CPH's trading partners SAS and Gebr. Heinemann, the largest concessionaire, constitute the only significant concentra-
tion of credit risk. The gross receivables from sales of services amounted to approximately 37.8% (2012: 46.4%). SAS' 
credit rating from Standard & Poor's is B-  (2012: CCC+). Gebr. Heinemann does not have a published credit rating, but 
they have provided a banker's guarantee to CPH equivalent to three months´ revenue (2012: three months' revenue). The 
remaining credit risk is distributed on CPH's many customers. See note 14 Trade receivables for further information.

 

  Credit risks related to bank deposits, securities and derivative financial instruments arise as a result of uncertainty regard-
ing the counterparty’s ability to meet liabilities when due. CPH seeks to limit the credit risk regarding bank deposits and 
derivative financial instruments by diversifying financial contracts and by entering into contracts only with financial coun-
terparties with satisfactory credit ratings.

 

  The credit risk is calculated per counterparty based on the actual market value of the contracts entered into. The credit 
exposure to financial counterparties as at 31 December 2013 totalled DKK 37.0 million (2012: DKK 832.8 million), cor-
responding to the value of bank deposits and money market deposits, including accrued interest. As at the balance sheet 
date, CPH had no credit risk on derivative financial instruments.

 

 Liquidity risk

  CPH's policy concerning borrowings is, as far as possible, to ensure a certain flexibility by diversifying financial contracts 
by maturity date and counterparties.

 

  CPH’s liquidity reserve consists of cash totalling DKK 37.0 million (2012: DKK 832.8 million) and guaranteed unused long-
term revolving credit facilities totalling DKK 1,850.0 million (2012: DKK 2,000.0 million). Further, CPH has overdraft facili-
ties of DKK 132.5 million available (2012: DKK 150.0 million). In addition to a general operational risk assessment, CPH 
endeavours to have a minimum of guaranteed unused liquidity in the region of DKK 400.0 million at any time so that 
CPH is able to meet its obligations from time to time and concurrently has capital resources to make necessary business-
related arrangements.

 

  CPH, itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries, has undertaken not to create or permit to subsist any security over its assets 
or those of its subsidiaries, subject to a maximum permitted amount. Furthermore, CPH has made a commitment to its 
lenders to comply with a number of other terms and conditions, including financial covenants. A number of CPH's agree-
ments on loans and credit facilities can be terminated in the event of failure to comply with these terms and conditions. 
CPH complies with all terms and conditions as at 31 December 2013.

Notes to the financial statements
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20 Financial risks (continued)

  A complete overview of payment commitments is disclosed below. All cash flows are non-discounted and include all lia-
bilities according to contracts. Interest payments on floating-rate debt not yet hedged are recognised at the fixed forward 
rate from the day the loans are expected to be swapped based on the yield curve applicable as at the balance sheet date. 
The DKK value of future interest and principal payments on loans in foreign currency is calculated based on the exchange 
rate as at the balance sheet date.

      Fair 
    After  value Carrying 
 Maturity as at 31 December 2013 0-1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total level 2* amount

       

 Recognised at amortised cost      

 Financial institutions and other loans 226.8 2,415.0 2,757.8 5,399.6 4,427.8 4,244.5

 Trade payables 328.0 - - 328.0 328.0 328.0

 Other payables and deferred income 276.5 - - 276.5 276.5 276.5

 Total 831.3 2,415.0 2,757.8 6,004.1 5,032.3 4,849.0

       

 Recognised at fair value      

 Other derivative financial instruments 8.1 367.1 243.2 618.4 618.4 618.4

 Total 8.1 367.1 243.2 618.4 618.4 618.4

       

 Total financial liabilities 839.4 2,782.1 3,001.0 6,622.5 5,650.7 5,467.4

       

 Recognised at amortised cost      

 Cash 37.0 - - 37.0 37.0 37.0

 Trade receivables 298.6 - - 298.6 298.6 298.6

 Other receivables 7.6 - - 7.6 7.6 7.6

 Total 343.2 - - 343.2 343.2 343.2

       

 Total financial assets 343.2 - - 343.2 343.2 343.2
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20 Financial risks (continued)

      Fair 
    After  value Carrying 
 Maturity as at 31 December 2012 0-1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total level 2* amount

       

 Recognised at amortised cost      

 Financial institutions and other loans 784.9 1,253.7 3,024.3 5,062.9 4,327.4 3,904.7

 Trade payables 522.6 - - 522.6 522.6 522.6

 Other payables and deferred income 343.6 - - 343.6 343.6 343.6

 Total 1,651.1 1,253.7 3,024.3 5,929.1 5,193.6 4,770.9

       

 Recognised at fair value      

 Other derivative financial instruments 103.4 142.8 303.0 549.2 549.2 549.2

 Total 103.4 142.8 303.0 549.2 549.2 549.2

       

 Total financial liabilities 1,754.5 1,396.5 3,327.3 6,478.3 5,742.8 5,320.1

       

 Recognised at amortised cost      

 Cash 832.8 - - 832.8 832.8 832.8

 Trade receivables 253.8 -  253.8 253.8 253.8

 Other receivables 49.2 - - 49.2 49.2 49.2

 Total 1,135.8 - - 1,135.8 1,135.8 1,135.8

       

 Total financial assets 1,135.8 - - 1,135.8 1,135.8 1,135.8

 *  The fair value of the financial liabilities is the present value of the expected future instalments and interest payments except for Trade payables, 
Other payables and Receivables, which are stated at the net carrying amount at year-end. A zero-coupon interest rate for similar maturities plus 
estimated credit cost based upon the present rating of the Company is used as the discount rate. The fair value of derivative financial 
instruments is determined based on published exchange rates, swap and forward rates and so on. Furthermore, an evaluation of own and 
counterparty credit risk is included. Fair value measurements of financial instruments are broken down into the following measurement 
hierarchy:   
 
Level 1: Observable market prices of identical instruments 
Level 2: Valuation models primarily based on observable prices or traded prices of comparable instruments 
Level 3: Valuation models primarily based on non-observable prices 
 
The fair value of CPH's forward exchange contracts and other derivative financial instruments (interest rate and currency swaps) are considered a 
level 2 fair value measurement as the fair value is primarily determined directly based on the published exchange rates and quoted swap and 
forward rates on the balance sheet date. 

Notes to the financial statements
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20 Financial risks (continued)

 Market risks

 Interest rate risks

  It is CPH's policy to hedge interest rate risks on its loans whenever it is considered that the interest payments can be 
hedged at a satisfactory level. Hedging is normally made by entering into interest rate swaps under which floating rate 
loans are swapped to a fixed rate of interest.

  Interest rate swaps have been used to hedge a floating rate on mortgage loans over a part of the loans maturity. As at 
the balance sheet date, CPH has outstanding interest rate swap with a notional amount of DKK 450.9 million (2012: DKK 
450.9 million) and the remaining period is 7 years. Fair value of the interest rate swaps amounts to DKK (56.5) million 
(2012: DKK (80.6) million). 

  In order to reduce its overall interest rate sensitivity, CPH seeks to ensure that its debt has a duration which to a certain 
extent takes into account the economic life of its assets. The duration of CPH’s loans as at 31 December 2013 has been 
determined at approximately 5 years (2012: 5.3 years), including effect of swap contracts.

  Most of CPH’s loan portfolio is at fixed rate or swapped to fixed rate. Fluctuations in the interest rate level would there-
fore only have an limited impact on CPH’s income statement.

  As the exchange rate and interest rate risk of debt denominated in USD, GBP and DKK is hedged by USD/DKK, GBP/DKK 
and DKK interest swaps, a change in interest rate would affect equity.

 Sensitivity analysis of the current portfolio of swap contracts 

 Effect on Equity by:  2013 2012

 An increase in the DKK rate of interest by one percentage  230.1 200.2

 A decrease in the DKK rate of interest by one percentage  (247.6) (233.1)

 An increase in the USD rate of interest by one percentage  (182.2) (156.8)

 A decrease in the USD rate of interest by one percentage  196.2 167.6

 An increase in the GBP rate of interest by one percentage  (13.0) (16.9)

 A decrease in the GBP rate of interest by one percentage  13.9 18.3

  A change in the USD and GBP interest rate will have an opposite effect on the loan portfolio. However, as the liability is 
recognised at amortised cost, it will not impact the carrying amount and thereby equity.
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20 Financial risks (continued)

 Exchange rate risks

  Exchange rate fluctuations would have a moderate impact on CPH’s results of operations because most of its revenues 
and costs are settled in DKK.

  CPH has chosen a strategy under which it seeks to continuously hedge its currency exposure 12 months forward. Cur-
rency exposure primarily arises from outstanding amounts denominated in foreign currency (payments from debtors or 
payments to creditors, etc.).

 Currency swaps

 The currency swaps were entered into to hedge future cash flows in CPH´s functional currency, DKK.

  Currency swaps have been used to hedge fixed rate bond loans denominated in USD and GBP by swapping the exchange 
rate exposure on both interest and principal from fixed payments in USD and GBP to fixed payments in DKK throughout 
the terms of the respective loans. The total notional amount of these outstanding cross currency swaps was USD 607 
million and GBP 23 million as at 31 December 2013 (2012: USD 547 million and GBP 23 million). The carrying amount of 
currency swap contracts amounts to DKK (561.8) million (2012: DKK (468.7) million).

 Hedging transactions

  The net fair value stated will be transferred from the Reserve for hedging to the income statement as and when the 
hedged interest payments are made. The terms to maturity of the cross currency swaps match the terms to maturity of 
the related loans. The terms to maturity on the interest rate swaps are shorter than those of the underlying mortgage 
loans, but the hedges match the payments on the loans in the full terms of the hedges.

Notes to the financial statements
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21 Received from customers

 Revenue   3,644.5   3,515.8 

 Change in trade debtors and prepayments from customers   60.9   (41.9)

 Total   3,705.4   3,473.9 

22 Paid to staff, suppliers, etc.

 Operating costs   (1,650.1)  (1,609.1)

 Change in other receivables, etc.   51.4   (9.2)

 Change in cost-related trade creditors, etc.   (195.3)  243.7 

 Total   (1,794.0)  (1,374.6)

23 Interest received, etc.

 Interest received, etc.   0.4   0.3 

 Realised exchange gains   1.5   0.8 

 Other interest income   -   0.6 

 Total   1.9   1.7 

24 Interest paid, etc.

 Interest paid, etc.   (222.3)  (206.3)

 Realised exchange losses   (0.3)  (0.9)

 Other financial costs   (8.2)  (7.4)

 Other interest expenses   (8.6)  (5.4)

 Total   (239.4)  (220.0)

25 Subsequent events

 No other material events have occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date.

26 Pending litigation

 Judgment in PRM trial

  On 1 February 2013, the High Court of Eastern Denmark passed judgment in an action brought by Copenhagen Airports 
A/S against SAS regarding payment by SAS for PRM assistance to SAS passengers. In the period 26 July 2008 to 31 March 
2009, Copenhagen Airports A/S invoiced SAS and other airlines for PRM assistance. The case was a test case to the effect 
that a process agreement had been made with all other airlines. In the judgment, the court held that Copenhagen Airport 
A/S was entitled to collect a charge for PRM assistance during the period. Copenhagen Airports A/S has recognised the 
receivable from the airlines for the period in question in its financial statements, so the judgment as passed by High Court 
of Eastern Denmark will not have any accounting effect. 14 February 2013, SAS has appealed the case to the Danish Su-
preme Court. The company and its legal advisors expect that the decision of the High Court is to be upheld at the Danish 
Supreme Court. The Supreme Court hearing is set for 6 October 2014.
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27 Capital and EPS

 See Shareholder information in Management's Report pages 27.

 
EPS =

 Net profit for the year  976.1 1,614.8

  Number of outstanding shares (1,000 pcs.)  7,848 7,848

 
EPS (diluted) =

 Net profit for the year  976.1 1,614.8

  Average number of outstanding shares,   7,848 7,848 
  fully diluted (1,000 pcs.)

28 Subsidiaries and associated companies

 Subsidiaries

	 •	Copenhagen	Airports’	Hotel	and	Real	Estate	Company	A/S,	Tårnby,	Denmark	-	100%	owned	by	CPH

	 •	Copenhagen	Airports	International	A/S,	Tårnby,	Denmark	-	100%	owned	by	CPH

 Associated companies

	 •	Airport	Coordination	Denmark	A/S,	Tårnby,	Denmark	-	50%	owned	by	CPH

29 Latest adopted accounting standards and interpretations for implementation

  The IASB had issued the following new financial reporting standards and interpretations by the end of January 2014, 
which are not yet entered into force:

	 •	Amendment	to	IAS	19	”Employee	Benefits”

	 •	IFRS	9	”Financial	Instruments”

	 •	IFRS	10	”Consolidated	Financial	Statements”

	 •	IFRS	11	”Joint	Arrangements”

	 •	IFRS	12	”Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities”

	 •	Revised	IAS	27	“Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	statements”.

	 •	Revised	IAS	28	”Investments	in	Associates”

 

 The standards and interpretations listed above have been adopted by the EU, except IFRS 9.  None of the above men-

 tioned is currently expected to have a material impact on CPH.
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Management's statement and auditor's report

The Group Annual Report – which according to section 149 
of the Danish Financial Statements Act is an extract of the 
Company annual report – does not include the financial 
statements of the Parent Company, Copenhagen Airports 
A/S. The financial statements of the Parent Company have 
been prepared as a separate publication available on request 
from Copenhagen A/S or at www.cph.dk.

The financial statements of the Parent Company form an 
integral part of the full annual report. The full annual report, 
including the financial statements of the Parent Company, 
will be filed with the Danish Business Authority, and copies 
are also available from the Danish Business Authority on 
request.

The allocation of the profit for the year including proposed 
dividend is described on page 40.

The full annual report has the following Management’s 
statement and auditor’s report.

Management's statement on the Annual Report
The Executive Management and the Board of Directors have 
today considered and adopted the Annual Report of 
Copenhagen Airports A/S for the financial year 1 January 
– 31 December 2013. The Consolidated Financial Statements 

are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and the Financial 
Statements are prepared in accordance with the Danish 
Financial Statements Act. Moreover, the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Financial Statements are 
prepared in accordance with additional Danish disclosure 
requirements for listed companies. Management’s Review is 
also prepared in accordance with Danish disclosure require-
ments for listed companies.

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position at 31 December 2013 of the Group and 
the Company and of the results of the Group and Company 
operations and consolidated cash flows for the financial year 
1 January – 31 December 2013.

In our opinion, the Management’s report includes a true and 
fair account of the development in the operations and 
financial circumstances of the Group and the Company, of 
the results for the year and of the financial position of the 
Group and the Company, as well as a description of the 
most significant risks and elements of uncertainty facing the 
Group and the Company in accordance with Danish 
disclosure requirements for listed companies.

Copenhagen, 25 February 2014

Executive Management

Thomas Woldbye
CEO

Board of Directors

Henrik Gürtler  David Stanton Simon Geere
Chairman Deputy Chairman Deputy Chairman

Christopher Timothy Frost Janis Kong Chris Ireland 

Stig Gellert Ulla Thygesen Jesper Bak Larsen
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Copenhagen Airports A/S

REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
the Parent Company Financial Statements of Copenhagen 
Airports A/S for the financial year 1 January to 31 December 
2013, which comprise Income Statement, Assets, Liabilities 
and Equity, Statement of Changes in Equity and Notes to 
the financial statements for both the Group and the Parent 
Company, as well as statement of comprehensive income and 
Cash Flow Statement for the Group. The Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and the 
Parent company Financial Statements are prepared under the 
Danish Financial Statements Act. Moreover, the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Parent Company Financial State-
ments are prepared in accordance with Danish disclosure 
requirements for listed companies.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Parent Company Financial 
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of Consoli-
dated Financial Statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the EU and Danish disclosure requirements for 
listed companies and for preparing Parent Company Financial 
Statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
the Danish Financial Statements Act and Danish disclosure 
requirements for listed companies, and for such internal con-
trol as Management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements and Parent 
Company Financial Statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Parent Company Financial State-
ments based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accord-
ance with International Standards on Auditing and additional 
requirements under Danish audit regulation. This requires that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements and the Parent Company Financial 
Statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evi-
dence about the amounts and disclosures in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Parent Company Financial State-
ments. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judg-
ment, including the assessment of the risks of material mis-
statement of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the 
Parent Company Financial Statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor consid-

ers internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation 
of Consolidated Financial Statements and Parent Company 
Financial Statements that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of ac-
counting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and the Parent Company Financial Statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

The audit has not resulted in any qualification. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements give a 
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position at 31 De-
cember 2013 and of the results of the Group’s operations and 
cash flows for the financial year 1 January to 31 December 
2013 in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and Danish disclosure re-
quirements for listed companies. 

Moreover, in our opinion, the Parent Company Financial 
Statements give a true and fair view of the Parent Company’s 
financial position at 31 December 2013 and of the results 
of the Parent Company’s operations and cash flows for the 
financial year 1 January – 31 December 2013 in accordance 
with the Danish Financial Statements Act and Danish disclo-
sure requirements for listed companies.

STATEMENT ON MANAGEMENT’s REVIEW
We have read Management’s Review in accordance with the 
Danish Financial Statements Act. We have not performed 
any procedures additional to the audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Parent Company Financial State-
ments. On this basis, in our opinion, the information provided 
in Management’s Review is consistent with the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Parent Company Financial State-
ments.

Copenhagen, 25 February 2014

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab

Mogens Nørgaard Mogensen  Brian Christiansen
State Authorised  State Authorised 
Public Accountant Public Accountant
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